
Agenda                        Board of Supervisors        February 3, 2024 
 

Russell County Page 1 
 

  
RUSSELL COUNTY 

 
BOARD OF SUPERVISOR’S MEETING 

 
AGENDA – FEBRUARY 3, 2024 

 
BOS Board Room                  Regular Meeting               9:00 AM 

 
Russell County Governmental Center 

Lebanon, Virginia 24266 
 

 
 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL – Clerk of the Board 
 
INVOCATION   
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Approval of Minutes.  Consider approval of the minutes of the  
 
following meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors….……………B-1 

 
a. Unapproved minutes of January 2, 2024 
b. Unapproved minutes of January 31, 2024         

  
2. Approval of Expenditures. Consider approval of expenditures presented  

for payment……………………………………………………………………………...B-2 
 

3. Committee Appointments for Board Consideration………………………………B-3 
 

Finney Community Center 
 
David Compton    Two-Year Term  January 3, 2024 
Edward Tiller    Two-Year Term  January 3, 2024 
 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors        February 3, 2024 
 

Russell County Page 2 
 

 
Spearhead Trails-Trailblazers 

  
Kelsay King     Four-Year Term  January 4, 2024 
 
Cumberland Industrial Facilities Authority (CIFA) 

 
 Toni Dodi (Resigned)   Four-Year Term  June 17, 2024 
 Rebecca Dye    Four-Year Term  June 17, 2024 
 
CITIZEN’S COMMENT PERIOD (Limited to 3 Minutes) 
 
CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 

REPORTS 
 

1. VACo Preliminary Legislative Program 2024………………………………………D-1 
 

2. 2024 Southwest VA Legislative Reception (1/31/24) & VACo Local                                
Government Day & Reception (2/1/24)………………………….………….....…….D-2 
 

3. RC BOS Resolution Opposing Utility Rate Increases…………………………….D-3 
 

4. RC Planning Commission Organizational Review………………………………...D-4 
 

5. Laurel Bed Lake Feasibility Study……………………………………………………D-5 
 

6. Heart of Appalachia 2025 Outcome Report…………………………………………D-6 
 

7. Russell County Road Reporting System……………………………………………D-7 
 

8. Russell County By-Laws Update……………………………………………………..D-8 
 

9. VDOT Monthly Road System Report………..……………………………………….D-9 
 

REQUESTS 
  

10. Virginia Opioid Authority Cooperative Partnership Grant – Project                               
Pathfinder……………………………………………………………..……………….....D-10 
 

11. Russell & Dickenson County – Joint Resolution of Support for Recovery                  
Residences and Providing Signatory Authority for the Proposal for Grant                     
Funding from the Virginia Opioid Abatement Authority………………………….D-11 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors        February 3, 2024 
 

Russell County Page 3 
 

 
12. CPRHA Environmental Exemption & 5 Yr. Plan Review………………………….D-12 

 
13. Host Agreement Resolution Public Hearing Notice..……..………………………D-13 

 
14. DHCD Community Development Block Grant #21-21-14 – Dante Sewer                               

Project……………………………………………………………………………………..D-14 
 

15. Virginia Federation of Humane Societies Direct Animal Award 2024………….D-15 
 

16. RC Planning Commission Plats………………………………………………………D-16 
 

17. Travel Request – Bridgett McGlothlin – Administrative Building Code                           
Training……………………………………………………………………………………D-17 
 

BOARD DISCUSSIONS & REMINDERS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
COUNTY AGENCY / BOARD REPORTS: 
        

• Treasurer…………….……………………………………………………………………E 
• RC IDA …………………………………………………………………………………….F 
• RC PSA …………………………………………………………………………………... G 
• RC Tourism……………………………………………………………………………….H 
• RC Planning Commission ……………………………………………………………..I 
• RC Conference Center…………………………………………………………………J 
• RC Transportation & Safety…………………………………………………………...K 
• RC Canneries……….…………………………………………………………………….L 
• RC Building Inspector…………………………………………………………………..M 
• RC Disposal………..……………………………………………………………………..N  
• RC Litter………..………………………………………………………………………….O 



 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Andrew Hensley  Rebecca Dye 
District 1   District 6  
 
Lou Ann Wallace                  Steve Breeding, Chairman Nathan Kiser 
District 2               District 5 At-Large  
   
Tara Dye                 David Eaton, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 3              District 4 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

       FEBRUARY 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

     RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

TAKE NOTICE pursuant to Section 2.2-3707 of the Code of Virginia, the Russell County 

Board of Supervisors regular monthly board meeting will be February 3, 2024, at 9 A.M. at the 

Russell County Board Room, located at 137 Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia.  

Notice Given Pursuant to Section 2.2-3707 of the Code of Virginia on the 28th day 

of January 2024. 

BY ORDER OF THE 

RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

  

  

  

 

 

 
 
 



 
     Board of Supervisors                       Action Item B-1 

137 Highland Drive  Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

          Meeting: 2/3/24       9:00 AM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Minutes  

Request approval of the minutes from the following meeting: 

• January 2, 2024 Board Minutes 
• January 31, 2024 Board Minutes 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board discretion 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve Board Minutes. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Board Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Page 2 of 2 
 

January 2, 2024 

A regular monthly mee�ng of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Tuesday, January 2, 
2024 at 6:00 pm at the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 

 

The Clerk called the mee�ng to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Present: 

Andrew Hensley 
Tara Dye 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Nate Kiser 
Lou Ann Wallace 
 
Lono Lester, Clerk 
Terry Kilgore, County Atorney 
 
Absent: 

None 

Invoca�on by Pastor Don Zampogna, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 

AMENDMENT OF THE AGENDA 

Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
amend the agenda to add: 

1. Execu�ve (Closed) Session to consult with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal maters requiring 
provision of legal advice pursuant to Virginia Code 2.2-3711 (A) (8) a�er Presenta�ons 

2. Industrial Development Authority Board, Russell County Department of Social Services Board, and 
Russell County Highway & Safety Commitee to New Business item #4 Commitee Appoints for 
Board Considera�on.  

The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

1. A plaque was presented to Ka�e Paton in apprecia�on for her service as County Atorney for the 
Board of Supervisors. 

2. Saint Paul Fire Department – EMS First Response Resolu�on 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
MOTION TO APPROVE SAINT PAUL FIRE DEPARTMENT – EMS FIRST RESPONSE RESOLUTION 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Saint Paul Fire Department – EMS First Response Resolu�on 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 
EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
enter into Execu�ve (Closed) Session pursuant to Sec�on 2.2-3712 (5) of the Code of Virginia to consult 
with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal maters requiring provision of legal advice pursuant to Sec�on 
2.2-3711 (A) (8) of the Code of Virginia. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 
APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
return to regular session. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 
CERTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 
Pursuant to sec�on 2.2-3712 (D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended each member of the Board of 
Supervisors upon the Roll Call cer�fies that to the best of their knowledge (I) only public business maters 
lawfully exempted from the open mee�ng requirements under the Virginia Freedom of Informa�on Act 
and (ii) only such public business maters that were iden�fied in the mo�on(s) by which the closed mee�ng 
was convened were heard, discussed, or considered in the mee�ng by the Board of Supervisors. 
 
Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the requirements 
of clauses (I) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indica�ng the substance of the departure that, 
in his or her judgment, has taken place. 
 
Are there any who believe a departure has taken place? Seeing none, if you agree that the maters heard, 
discussed, or considered during the closed mee�ng were pursuant only to the mo�on(s) by which the 
closed mee�ng was convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 
 
Andrew Hensley – Aye 
Tara Dye – Aye 



Page 2 of 2 
 

David Eaton – Aye 
Steve Breeding – Aye 
Rebecca Dye – Aye 
Nate Kiser – Aye 
Lou Ann Wallace – Aye 
 
ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 
 

1. Nomina�ons for Chairperson: 
 
Lou Ann Wallace relinquished the Chair to the Clerk of the Board. 
 
Lou Ann Wallace nominated Steve Breeding. 
No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
The vote was: 
Steve Breeding (7) seven votes - Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca 
Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
 
Steve Breeding was elected Chairperson for the calendar year 2024. 
 
The Clerk relinquished the Chair to Steve Breeding. 
 

2. Nomina�ons for Vice-Chairperson: 
 

Tara Dye nominated David Eaton. 
No other nomina�ons were made.   
 
Mo�on made by Lou Ann Wallace, second by Andrew Hensley and duly approved by the Board of 
Supervisors that nomina�ons cease. 
 
The vote was: 
David Eaton (7) seven votes - Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca 
Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
 
David Eaton was elected Vice-Chairperson for the calendar year 2024. 
 

3. Appointment of Clerk of Board and Deputy Clerk: 
 
 Mo�on made by Lou Ann Wallace, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of 
 Supervisors to reappoint Lonzo Lester as Clerk of Board and to table the appointment of Deputy 
 Clerk un�l the next board mee�ng. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

4. Adop�on of Robert’s Rules of Order: 
 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
Supervisors to adopt Robert’s Rules of Order for the calendar year 2024. 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
Wallace 
Nay:  None 

 
5. Adop�on of County’s By-Laws: 

 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Nate Kiser and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors 
to approve the County’s By-Laws as presented for the calendar year 2024. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

6. CY 2024 Board of Supervisors’ Regular Mee�ng Schedule: 
 
Mo�on made by Nate Kiser, second Andrew Hensley and duly approved by the Board of 
Supervisors to schedule the regular mee�ng for the calendar year 2024 at 9:00 AM on the first 
Saturday of every month. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, and Nate Kiser  
Nay:  Lou Ann Wallace and Rebecca Dye 
 

7. FY 2024/2025 Board of Supervisors Budget Mee�ng Schedule: 
 

Mo�on made by Nate Kiser, second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
Supervisors to approve the FY 2024/2025 Board of Supervisors Budget Mee�ng Schedule as 
presented. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
Wallace 
Nay:  None 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Approval of Minutes: 
 
 Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
 Supervisors to approve the December 11, 2023 minutes as presented and dispense with the 
 reading thereof. 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 The vote was: 
 Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, and Lou Ann Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 Abstain:  Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, and Nate Kiser (New Members). 
 

2. Approval of Expenditures: 
 
 Mo�on made by David Eaton second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
 Supervisors to approve the expenditures presented for payment. 

  
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

3. 2024 Authorized Payments: 
 
 Mo�on made by David Eaton second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
 Supervisors to authorize the list of opera�onal rou�ne monthly payments for delegated 
 authoriza�on. 
  
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 

4. Commitee Appointments: 
 

a) Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Execu�ve Board (2 Appointments) 
  
 Lou Ann Wallace nominated Steve Breeding for the first appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 
 Steve Breeding is appointed to the Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Execu�ve Board 
 concurrent with term. 
 
 Rebecca Dye nominated Lou Ann Wallace for the second appointment. 
 Nate Kiser nominated David Eaton for the second appointment. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Lou Ann Wallace – (2) Rebecca Dye and Lou Ann Wallace 
 David Eaton – (5) Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, and Nate Kiser 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 David Eaton is appointed to the Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Execu�ve Board 
 concurrent with term. 
  

b) Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Commission (2 Appointments) 
 
 Nate Kiser nominated Tara Dye for the first appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 
 Tara Dye is appointed to the Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Commission 
 concurrent with term. 
 
 David Eaton nominated Nate Kiser for the second appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
  
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 
 Nate Kiser is appointed to the Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Commission 
 concurrent with term. 
 

c) Planning Commission (1 Appointment) 
 
 Andrew Hensley nominated Tara Dye. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 
 Tara Dye is appointed to the Planning Commission concurrent with term. 
 

d) Regional Jail Board (2 Appointments) 
 
 David Eaton nominated Nate Kiser for the first appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 Nay:  None 
 
 Nate Kiser is appointed to the Regional Jail Board concurrent with term. 
 
 Nate Kiser nominated Steve Breeding for the second appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 
 Steve Breeding is appointed to the Regional Jail Board concurrent with term. 
 

e) Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Authority Board (2 Appointments) 
 
 Andrew Hensley nominated Nate Kiser for the first appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
  
 Nate Kiser is appointed to Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Authority Board concurrent with 
 term. 
 
 Tara Dye nominated Andrew Hensley for the second appointment. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
  
 Tara Dye is appointed to Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Authority Board concurrent with 
 term. 
 

f) Chief Local Elected Official (CLEO) (Workforce Development Board) (1 Appointment) 
 
 David Eaton nominated Steve Breeding. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
  



Page 2 of 2 
 

 Steve Breeding is appointed to Chief Local Elected Official (CLEO) (Workforce Development Board) 
 concurrent with term. 
 

g) Budget/Finance Commitee (2 Appointments) 
 
 Steve Breeding appointed himself and David Eaton to the Budget/Finance Commitee for a one-
 year term. 
  

h) Coal Road Commission (1 Appointment) 
 
 David Eaton nominated Andrew Hensley. 
 No other nomina�ons were made. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
  
 Andrew Hensley is appointed to the Coal Road Commission concurrent with term. 
 

i) Finney Community Center (2 Appointments) 
 
 Tara Dye requested to carry over to February 2024 mee�ng. 
 

j) Spearhead Trails-Trailblazers (1 Appointment) 
 
 David Eaton requested to carry over to February 2024 mee�ng. 
 

k) Industrial Development Authority Board (1 Appointment) 
 
 Upon atorney’s advice, mo�on to resent the December 11, 2023 appointment of Tommy Shrader 
 made by David  Eaton, second Nate Kiser and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye:  Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, and, Nate Kiser 
 Nay:  Rebecca Dye and Lou Ann Wallace 
 
 Mo�on made by Nate Kiser, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of 
 Supervisors to appoint Tony Dodi to the Industrial Development Authority Board for a term of 4 
 years. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, and Nate Kiser  
 Nay: Rebecca Dye and Lou Ann Wallace 
  

l) Russell County Department of Social Services Board (1 Appointment) 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Nate Kiser and duly approved by the Board of 
 Supervisors to replace Rebecca Dye with Tara Dye to the Russell County Department of Social 
 Services Board concurrent with term. 
 
 The vote was: 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, and Nate Kiser  
 Nay: Rebecca Dye and Lou Ann Wallace 
 

m) The Russell County Highway Safety Commitee 
 
Mo�on made by Andrew Hensley, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of 
Supervisors to dissolve the Russell County Highway Safety Commitee pending verifica�on from 
VDOT that elimina�on will not jeopardize the safety of Russell County ci�zens. 

 
 Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann 
 Wallace 
 Nay:  None 
 
  
CITIZENS’ COMMENTS 
 
 The Chair opened the ci�zens’ comment period. 
 
 

1. Randy Burke, Lebanon voiced his concerns that mul�ple on-duty county police officers are 
gathering at local restaurants; would like to see more drug related arrests; inquired about when 
the county would be having another seizure sale.  

 
2. The following ci�zens voiced their opposi�on to the proposed landfill at Moss III: 

 
 Amy Branson, Castlewood 
 Tammy Garret, Lebanon 
 Gary Hughes, Swords Creek 
 Dirk Hall, Cleveland 
 Josh Burgess, Cleveland 
 Dirk Hall, Cleveland 
 Jarred Ring, Castlewood 
 Jennifer Chumbley, Cleveland 
 Tony Smith, Cleveland 
 Roland Cook, Cleveland 
 Angie McGlothlin, Honaker 
 Amanda Cook, Cleveland 
 Josh Burgess, Cleveland 
 Chris McDonald, Ivy Ridge 
 

3. David Ball, Cleveland asked the local officials, business owners, and communi�es to u�lize Door 
Dash services; voiced his opposi�on to the proposed landfill at Moss III. 

 



Page 2 of 2 
 

4. JJ Eaton, Honaker asked the Board about forming a budget commitee between the School Board 
and County to assist with some of the issues that the schools are facing. 

 
County Administrator Requests 
 

1. Motion made by Nate Kiser, second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
supervisors to approve the RC Six-Year General Reassessment Services Request for Proposals 
(RFP) Contract. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 

 
2. Motion made by Lou Ann Wallace, second Andrew Hensley and duly approved by the Board of 

supervisors to approve the Eagleview GSD County-Wide Pictometry Contract for Flight Services of 
the County – General Reassessment Services. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

3. Motion made by Lou Ann Wallace, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of 
supervisors to approve the IDA Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund Performance 
Agreement & Grant for the Tate Corp. (Bush Building) - $700,000.00. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

4. Motion made by Lou Ann Wallace, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of 
supervisors to approve the Community Development Block grant #21-21-14 – Dante Regional 
Sewer Line Extension Project Contract Amendment #1 – Supplemental Funding - $1,000,000.00. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

5. Motion made by David Eaton, second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of 
supervisors to approve the DCJS VA Services, Training, Officers, Prosecution (VSTOP) Formula 
Grant Program for Continuation and New Applicants - $133,333.00. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

6. Motion made by David Eaton, second Rebecca Dye and duly approved by the Board of supervisors 
to approve the RC Disposal Truck Purchase - State Contract - $215,212.00. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

7. Motion made by David Eaton, second Tara Dye and duly approved by the Board of supervisors to 
approve the Local Law Enforcement (LOLE) Grant Program – FY 23 - $2,512.00. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

8. Motion made by Rebecca Dye, second Tara Dye and duly approved by the Board of supervisors to 
approve the CSA Supplemental Allocation Request Form – FY 24 - $116,191.92. 
 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou 
Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

9. Honaker and Castlewood Canneries have agreed to close for the season on January 31, 2024. 
 
 
Adjournment 
 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Lou Ann Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
adjourn to reconvene on Wednesday January 31, 2024 at 4:00 PM at the Marriot in Richmond. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Andrew Hensley, Tara Dye, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye, Nate Kiser and Lou Ann Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________                   _________________________ 
Clerk of the Board                                         Chairperson 
 
 
 
  
  



 
                                                      Board of Supervisors                         Action Item B-2 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

        Meeting: 2/3/24      9:00 AM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Expenditures 

Request approval of the County’s January 2024 Monthly Expenditures: 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):  
County’s January 2024 Monthly Expenditures are in compliance with budget and operational 

services. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve County’s January 2024 Monthly Expenditures. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• January 2024 Monthly Expenditures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Steve Breeding
Highlight

















 
Board of Supervisors  Action Item:  B-4 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson  
Lebanon, VA 24266 

      Meeting: 2/3/24        6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

      Board Appointments 
 
Finney Community Center 
 
David Compton    Two-Year Term  January 3, 2024 
Edward Tiller    Two-Year Term  January 3, 2024 
 
 
Spearhead Trails-Trailblazers 

  
Kelsay King     Four-Year Term  January 4, 2024 
 
Cumberland Industrial Facilities Authority (CIFA) 

 
 Toni Dodi (Resigned)   Four-Year Term  June 17, 2024 
 Rebecca Dye    Four-Year Term  June 17, 2024 
 

 

Steve Breeding
Highlight















Cumberland Industrial Facilities Authority 

BOARD MEMBERS: APPOINTMENT TERM: TERM EXPIRES: 
Nelson “Toni” Dodi 

P.O. Box 714 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

(276) 889-2625
tdodi@russell.k12.va.us 

Four Year 

District 5 

June 17, 2024 

Rebecca Dye 
9457 Mountain Road 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

276-254-1858
rebecca.dye@russellcountyva.us 

Four Year 

District 6 

June 17, 2024 

            Peggy Kiser 
    740 Dyers Chapel Rd.
  Clincho,VA   24226-8854

mailto:tdodi@russell.k12.va.us
mailto:rebecca.dye@russellcountyva.us
Tracy
Highlight





Finney Community Center Board 
137 Highland Drive, Suite A, Lebanon, VA 24266 

BOARD MEMBERS: APPOINTMENT TERM: TERM EXPIRES: 

David Compton Two Years January 3, 2024 

Edward Tiller 
7491 Redbud Highway 

Honaker, VA 24260 Two Years 
District 3 

January 3, 2024 

For information 
contact: 

Linda Tiller, President 
276-873-6545
276-701-1258

OR
Thelma Wilson 

P.O. Box 82 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

(276) 889-1090

Every Wednesday @ 10:30  Devotional, singing and lunch



Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Commission 
Meets quarterly, March, June, September, December, last Thursday of the month @ 
6:00  
Members: 
Lou Wallace 
Tara Dye 
Steve Breeding 
Nate Kiser 
 
Cumberland Plateau Economic Development Executive Board 
Meets last Thursday every month @ 6:00 pm 
Members: 
Steve Breeding 
David Eaton 
 
Chief Local Elected Officials Board  
Member: 
Meeting TBA 
Steve Breeding 
 
Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Management Authority 
Meets the 3rd Thursday @ 5:30 pm 
Members: 
Andrew Hensley 
Nate Kiser 
 
Coal Hauling Road Commission 
Meetings:TBA 
Member: 
Andrew Hensley 
 
Southwest Virginia Health Authority 
Meeting TBA 
Member: 
David Eaton 
 
Cumberland Mountain Community Service Board 
Meets 6 times a year, beginning February, Tuesdays @ noon 
Member: 
David Eaton 
 
Russell County Planning Commission 
Meets 3rd Tuesday @m 6:00 pm 
Member: 
Tara Dye 
 



Department of Social Services Board 
Meets 4th Tuesday @ 4:00 pm 
Member:   
Tara Dye 
 
Community Policy Management Team 
Meets 3rd Tuesday @ 9:00 
Member: 
Rebecca Dye 
 
Southwest Virginia Regional Jail Authority 
Meets quarterly,  January 23rd @ 10:00 am, RC Conference Center  
April 16th, Wise @ 10:00 am, 
July 30th @ 10:00 am, RC Conference Center 
October 8, Wise @ 10:00 am 
Members: 
Nate Kiser 
Steve Breeding 
 
Cumberland Industrial Facilities Authority 
Meets quarterly TBA 
Member: 
Rebecca Dye 
 



 

Board of Supervisors  Action Item D-1 – D-17 
137 Highland Drive Presenter: Administrator 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

                     Meeting: 2/3/24         9:00 AM 
 
 

 

County Administrator Reports & Requests 

The County Administrator Reports & Request for February 2024: 
 
REPORTS 
 

1. VACo Preliminary Legislative Program 2024………………………………………D-1 
 

2. 2024 Southwest VA Legislative Reception (1/31/24) & VACo Local                                                         
Government Day & Reception (2/1/24)………………………….………….....…….D-2 

 
3. RC BOS Resolution Opposing Utility Rate Increases…………………………….D-3 

 
4. RC Planning Commission Organizational Review………………………………...D-4 

 
5. Laurel Bed Lake Feasibility Study……………………………………………………D-5 

 
6. Heart of Appalachia 2025 Outcome Report…………………………………………D-6 

 
7. Russell County Road Reporting System……………………………………………D-7 

 
8. Russell County By-Laws Update……………………………………………………..D-8 

 
9. VDOT Monthly Road System Report………..……………………………………….D-9 

 
REQUESTS 
  

10. Virginia Opioid Authority Cooperative Partnership Grant – Project                               
Pathfinder……………………………………………………………..……………….....D-10 

 
11. Russell & Dickenson County – Joint Resolution of Support for Recovery                                          

Residences and Providing Signatory Authority for the Proposal for Grant                                              
Funding from the Virginia Opioid Abatement Authority………………………….D-11 

 
12. CPRHA Environmental Exemption & 5 Yr. Plan Review………………………….D-12 

 
13. Host Agreement Resolution Public Hearing Notice..……..………………………D-13 

 
14. DHCD Community Development Block Grant #21-21-14 – Dante Sewer                               

Project……………………………………………………………………………………..D-14 
 

15. Virginia Federation of Humane Societies Direct Animal Award 2024………….D-15 
 

16. RC Planning Commission Plats………………………………………………………D-16 
 

17. Travel Request – Bridgett McGlothlin – Administrative Building Code                           
Training……………………………………………………………………………………D-17 

 
 

 
 

 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

http://www.russellcountyva.us/
http://www.russellcountyva.us/
Steve Breeding
Highlight



Date/Time 
**Speaker details TBA 

Location 
Library of Virginia 
800 E. Broad Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 

Register 

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Steve Breeding
Highlight





 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Tim Lovelace  Steve Breeding 
District 1   District 5  
 
Carl Rhea      Lou Ann Wallace, Chairperson Rebecca Dye 
District 3  District 2 District 6 
  
David Eaton   Oris Christian, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 4   At-Large County Administrator 
 

 
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 
RESOLUTION 

OPPOSING 
 

AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER (AEP) 
APPALACHIAN POWER (ApCo) 

KENTUCKY UTILITY CORPORATION (KUC) 
 

UTILITY RATE INCREASES 
 

At a regularly scheduled meeting of the Russell County Board of 
Supervisors held on December 11, 2023, on a motion by David Eaton, 
seconded by Steve Breeding, the following resolution was adopted to issue notice 
to the regional utility companies, local legislators, State Corporation 
Commission (SCC), General Assembly, and the Governor’s Office concerning 
recent utility rate increases to the citizens of Russell County; and   

    
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, is 

committed to being responsive and attentive to the concerns and welfare of all 
its citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, has 

recently become aware of the financial hardship that the most recent American 
Electric Power (herein referred to as “AEP”), Kentucky Utilities Company (herein 
referred to as “KUC”), and Appalachian Power (ApCo) utility rate increases have 
had on its citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, 

believes that the most recent utility rate increases are unreasonable and are 
having a detrimental effect on our all our citizens, especially our most vulnerable 
elderly and low-income population; and 

 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

 
 
 
WHEREAS, AEP, KUC, and ApCo have consistently posted strong 

quarterly earnings and specifically in 2023 with strong earnings, leading the Board 
of Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, to believe that the rate increases were 
and are unnecessary; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Supervisors of 

Russell County, Virginia, that the Board hereby formally requests the local 
legislators, the Virginia State Corporation Commission (SCC), General 
Assembly, and the Governor’s Office take some formal action to reconsider the 
recent utility rate increases to relieve the financial burden to all of our citizens. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Chairperson of the Board of 

Supervisors of Russell County, Virginia, Lou Wallace, is hereby authorized to 
sign this Resolution and the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of Russell 
County, Virginia, Lonzo Lester, is hereby authorized to attest the Chairperson’s 
signature to this Resolution. 

 
ADOPTED this 11th day of December 2023. 
 
 
 Board of Supervisors 
  Russell County, Virginia  
 
  _____________________________ 
  Lou Wallace, Chairperson 
 
 

A COPY ATTEST: 
 

____________________________ 
Lonzo Lester, County Administrator                                         

 
        



Code of Virginia 
Title 15.2. Counties, Cities and Towns 
Chapter 22. Planning, Subdivision of Land and Zoning 

Article 2. Local Planning Commissions. 
§ 15.2-2210. Creation of local planning commissions; participation in planning district commissions or joint local 
commissions. 
Every locality shall by resolution or ordinance create a local planning commission in order to promote the orderly development 0 1 

the locality and its environs. In accomplishing the objectives of§ 15.2-2200 the local planning commissions shall serve primarily 
in an advisory capacity to the governing bodies. 

Any locality may participate in a planning district commission in accordance with Chapter 42 (§ 15.2-4200 et seq.) of this title or; 
joint local commission in accordance with§ 15.2-2219. 

1975, C. 641, § 15.1-427.1; 1997, C. 587. 

§ 15.2-2211. Cooperation oflocal planning commissions and other agencies. 
The planning commission of any locality may cooperate with local planning commissions or legislative and administrative bodies 
and officials of other localities so as to coordinate planning and development among the localities. The planning commission of 

any locality shall consult with the installation commander of any military installation that will be affected by potential 
development within the locality so as to reasonably protect the military installation against any adverse effects that might be 
caused by the development. Planning commissions may appoint committees and may adopt rules as needed to effect such 
cooperation. Planning commissions may also cooperate with state and federal officials, departments and agencies. Planning 
commissions may request from such departments and agencies, and such departments and agencies of the Commonwealth shall 

furnish, such reasonable information which may affect the planning and development of the locality. 

Code 1950, § 15-961.1; 1962, c.407, § 15.1-428; 1975, c. 641; 1997, c. 587; 2013, cc. 149, 213. 

§ 15.2-2212. Qualifications, appointment, removal, terms and compensation of members of local planning commissions. 
A local planning commission shall consist of not less than five nor more than fifteen members, appointed by the governing body, 
all of whom shall be residents of the locality, qualified by knowledge and experience to make decisions on questions of comm unit 
growth and development; provided, that at least one-half of the members so appointed shall be owners of real property. The local 
governing body may require each member of the commission to take an oath of office. 

One member of the commission may be a member of the governing body of the locality, and one member may be a member of the 
administrative branch of government of the locality. The term of each of these two members shall be coextensive with the term ol 

office to which he has been elected or appointed, unless the governing body, at the first regular meeting each year, appoints other 
to serve as their representatives. The remaining members of the commission first appointed shall serve respectively for terms of 
one year, two years, three years, and four years, divided equally or as nearly equal as possible between the membership. 
Subsequent appointments shall be for terms of four years each. The local governing bodies may establish different terms of office 
for initial and subsequent appointments including terms of office that are concurrent with those of the appointing governing bod 

Vacancies shall be filled by appointment for the unexpired term only. 

Members may be removed for malfeasance in office. Notwithstanding the foregoing provision, a member of a local planning 
commission may be removed from office by the local governing body without limitation in the event that the commission membe 
is absent from any three consecutive meetings of the commission, or is absent from any four meetings of the commission within 
any 12-month period. In either such event, a successor shall be appointed by the governing body for the unexpired portion of the 
term of the member who has been removed. 

The local governing body may provide for compensation to commission members for their services, reimbursement for actual 
expenses incurred, or both. 

Code 1950, §§ 15-901, 15-916, 15-963; 1956, cc. 282, 497; 1960, c. 309; 1962, c. 407, § 15.1-437; 1973, c. 160; 1974, c. 521; 1986, c. 

208; 1988, C. 256; 1997, C. 587; 2006, C. 687. 

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight









Russell County Planning Commission 
137 Highland Drive, Suite A, Lebanon, VA 24266 

BOARD MEMBERS: APPOINTMENT TERM: TERM EXPIRES: 
     Ernie McFaddin 

      137 Burns Ave        
Lebanon, Va  24266

276-971-0690 District 5 

Four Years October 12, 2025 

Jack Compton 

District 3 
Four Years 6231 Finney Road 

Honaker, VA 24260 October 12, 2025 

(276) 873-6714

District 4 
Four Years February 7,2026 

Brian Keith Ray
      15 Miller Church Lane
     Swords Creek, VA 24649                  
           (276)-870-5122

District 3 
Four Years October 7, 2027 

     Charles Edmonds 
3907 Jessee's Mill Rd. 
Cleveland, VA  24225

 (276)-494-6138 
John Mason 

District 1 
Four Years 4364 South 71 

Castlewood, VA 24224 October 4, 2027 

(276) 794-7820

Distritct 6 
Four Years November 13, 2027 

Greg Stoots 
2045 Green Valley Rd. 

Lebanon, VA 24266 
(276)971-4750

       Philip Addington
   293 Greystone Drive
Castlewood, VA  24224 

276-608-5759 District 2 
Four Years October 12, 2025 

    

         Tara Dye
442 Dogwood Lane 
Cleveland, VA 24225
      276-639-1684 District 3

Concurrent with term

Tracy
Cross-Out

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Russell County Planning Commission 
137 Highland Drive, Suite A, Lebanon, VA 24266 

BOARD MEMBERS: APPOINTMENT TERM: TERM EXPIRES: 

 
Attorney 

Crystal White Advisor 

mailto:oris.christian@russellcountyva.us


 

 

 

                                            

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 
Russell County, Virginia  

 
Prepared for 

Russell County Board of Supervisors 
 

 
T&L Project No. 17632 
Final Document Issued January 19, 2024 

FEASIBILITY STUDY  

 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

00 0101 

 

 
Feasibility Study 

 
 

Laurel Bed Lake Access Development  
Russell County, Virginia  

 
 

Prepared For 
Russell County Board of Supervisors  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
This document and the ideas and designs incorporated herein, as an instrument of professional service, is the 
property of Thompson & Litton and is not to be used in whole or in part for any other project without the written 
authorization of Thompson & Litton. 

 
 
 
 

P.O. Box 1307 
103 East Main Street 
Wise, Virginia 24293 

 
 T&L Project No. 17632                                  Final Document Issued January 19, 2024 



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 i 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Table of Contents ............................................................................................................................... i 

I. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Purpose of Study ................................................................................................................... 1 

B. Project Location Map ........................................................................................................... 1 

II. Existing Conditions .................................................................................................................... 3 

A. Potential Access Road Project Area .................................................................................. 3 

B. Connecting Road at Starting Point ................................................................................... 3 

C. Connecting Road at Ending Point ..................................................................................... 3 

III. Proposed Alternatives ............................................................................................................... 4 

A. Alternative A ........................................................................................................................... 6 

B. Alternative B ........................................................................................................................... 7 

C. Alternative C .......................................................................................................................... 7 

D. Alternative D .......................................................................................................................... 8 

IV. Selected Alternative .................................................................................................................. 9 

V. Summary ................................................................................................................................... 10 

 

List of Figures 
Figure I – Project Location Map...................................................................................................... 2 

Figure 2  - Plan View Comparison of Alignment Alternatives ................................................. 5 

Figure 3  - Elevation View Comparison of Alignment Alternatives ........................................ 5 

  

List of Tables 
Table 1 – Alignment Length and Elevation Data ....................................................................... 8 

 

Report Appendices 

A. Alternative Alignment Exhibits 

B. Probable Project Cost Estimates 

C. Road Design Standards



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 1 

 

 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Laurel Bed Lake is a 330-acre lake located in Russell County, Virginia within the Clinch 

Mountain Range. Owned by the Virginia Department of Wildlife Resources (DWR), 

the lake is a prime recreation area that hosts great potential for nearby communities 

in Russell County and neighboring counties. The problem is, though the lake resides in 

Russell County, there is currently no means of accessing the lake from the North 

(from Russell County). Although the lake is essentially in the backyard of the Belfast 

community, the shortest route to access the lake takes over an hour to drive and 

comprises partially of one-lane underdeveloped gravel road. This is currently the only 

route to the lake that is open to the public. There have been three documented 

failures of this road since 2003 due to weather and erosion, two of which occurred in 

the last five calendar years. These failures caused road closure for a number of 

months while repairs were taking place. Furthermore, the limited access creates a 

hindrance for emergency responders. Russell County EMS and Sheriff’s Office would 

be the first responders in emergency situations since the lake is in Russell County, 

which results in response times of up to one hour in good road conditions. 

A. Purpose of Study 

As a first step in addressing this need, Thompson & Litton was commissioned to 

conduct this study for the Russell County Board of Supervisors (BOS) to 

determine the feasibility of constructing an access road across the mountain ridge 

to Laurel Bed Lake from the end of Whites Subdivision Road in Belfast. The 

potential road would serve by making recreational use more accessible to Russell 

County, Tazewell County, and neighboring communities north of the lake and by 

greatly improving emergency response times. 

B. Project Location Map 

Figure 1 shows the general location of the potential road in relation to Laurel Bed 

Lake and neighboring towns. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Honaker

Saltville

Laurel Bed Lake

US HWY 19

PROJECT AREA

Lebanon

TAZEW
ELL CO

UNTY

RUSSELL CO
UNTY

RUSSELL 
COUNTY

WASHINGTON COUNTY

TAZEWELL COUNTY

SMYTH COUNTY

SM
YTH COUNTY

W
ASHINGTON COUNTY

SOUTHWEST VIRGINIA
COMMUNITY COLLEGE

LOCATION MAP IMAGERY SOURCE:
2023 MICROSOFT CORPORATION

LAUREL BED LAKE ACCESS DEVELOPMENT
FEASIBILITY STUDY

PROJECT NO.

FILE LOCATION

DATE

T H O M P S O N
& L I T T O N

FIGURE
I

17632 DECEMBER 2023

...CIVIL\CADD\Exhibits

SCALE:  APPROXIMATELY 1"= 2 MILES

RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Claypool Hill

Richlands



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 3 

 

 

 

II. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

To adequately assess the existing condition of the potential project routes and 

surrounding areas, Thompson & Litton conducted three site visits in October and 

November of 2023; one with Russell County officials, the project area’s property 

owners, and representatives from Appalachian Power, one only with the property 

owners to evaluate an additional potential route, and one unaccompanied to evaluate 

the existing service road on Laurel Bed Lake’s side of the mountain, to which the 

proposed road would connect. 

A. Potential Access Road Project Area 

All potential routes for the proposed access road are currently undeveloped and 

densely wooded. The project area is comprised of forested hillside with moderate 

to steep slopes averaging approximately 28%, or 28 feet in elevation gain per 100 

horizontal feet.  

The project area primarily resides on land owned by two separate property 

owners, who have both been key supporters of this feasibility study. 

B. Connecting Road at Starting Point 

The proposed access road would begin at the end of state maintenance on Whites 

Subdivision Road (State Route 729). Whites Subdivision Road is a paved, 

unmarked, two-lane road that extends from Mountain Road in Belfast.  

C. Connecting Road at Ending Point  

The proposed access road would end at its connection to an existing one-lane 

gravel service road owned by the DWR that leads to Laurel Bed Lake. The 

connection point can vary depending on the chosen access road route. This service 

road is not currently open to public vehicular traffic, but it is our opinion that the 

service road could accommodate vehicle traffic with the necessary improvements. 

The current conditions of the existing service road are consistent from each of the 

potential connection points down to the lake. The grade of the existing road is 

smooth and gradual, averaging approximately 7%. 

  



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 4 

 

 

 

III. PROPOSED ALTERNATIVES 

During site visits, Thompson & Litton evaluated multiple potential alignments for the 

proposed access road. Based on these field evaluations and available mapping and 

elevation data, Thompson & Litton has developed four (4) alignment alternatives for 

consideration as part of this engineering study. A general comparison of these 

alternatives can be seen below in Figure 2 (overhead “plan” view) and Figure 3 (side 

“elevation” view). 

Detailed descriptions of each alternative follow in this section. A comparison of the 

length and elevation data of each alternative can be found in Table I. All elevation data 

was obtained from Google Earth and USGS topography maps. Therefore, accuracy 

cannot be verified at this stage. Any data or measurements presented herein are 

intended for general comparison purposes only and may vary from that of field surveys 

to be obtained if this project progresses to a design stage. More detailed exhibits and 

probable construction cost estimates of each alternative can be found in Appendix A 

and Appendix B, respectively.  



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 5 

 

 

 

FIGURE 2 - PLAN VIEW COMPARISON OF ALIGNMENT ALTERNATIVES (INCLUDING DWR 

LANDS) 

 

FIGURE 3 – ELEVATION VIEW COMPARISON OF ALIGNMENT ALTERNATIVES (EXCLUDING 

DWR LANDS) 



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 6 

 

 

 

A. Alternative A 

The alignment for Alternative A begins at the end of Whites Subdivision Road by 

veering left and following an existing ATV trail for approximately 3,200 feet. 

Much of the remaining route has not been traversed by vehicles. This alignment 

would have more switchbacks in its first 2,000 feet than the other alternatives, 

which provides a more gradual increase in elevation. The total length of this 

alignment is approximately 8,900 feet, and the total elevation gain is 

approximately 1,030 feet, resulting in an average longitudinal grade of 11.6% 

(steepness in the direction of travel) with sections up to nearly 20%. For 

comparison, the current access route (Tumbling Creek Road & Laurel Bed Lake 

Road) has average grades of up to 10%. The nearby Hidden Valley Lake has an 

access road with average grades of up to 16%.  

Coordination with Appalachian Power would be required for this alternative 

since the route would cross the permanent utility easement for high voltage 

transmission lines. Support from Appalachian Power for this feasibility study has 

been expressed due to the potential benefit this alignment creates regarding 

ease of access to the transmission lines. Alternative A could provide vehicular 

access points for up to four (4) transmission towers, which would be secured to 

prevent unauthorized access. 

The greatest benefit of Alternative A, in addition to the steady longitudinal 

grade, is the proximity to the lake of the connection point to the existing gravel 

DWR service road. If this alternative is constructed, the path along the DWR 

road to Laurel Bed Lake Road would only be an additional 3,780 feet (0.71 miles) 

from its connection to the new road and would be generally straight with gentle 

curves. This is especially beneficial if there are plans to improve the existing DWR 

road to match the conditions of the new road. 

The greatest construction-related challenge expected for Alternative A is the 

steepness of the side slopes. As this route approaches the top of the mountain, 

the cross slope of the existing terrain (in the direction perpendicular to the 

direction of travel) becomes increasingly steep. To cut in a road in these areas 

would result in near-vertical cut and fill slopes. Depending on the soil conditions 

determined by a geotechnical engineering analysis, additional slope stabilization 

measures may be required, such as slope armoring or retaining walls. Earthwork 

and slope stabilization is expected to be a significant portion of the cost of this 

alternative.  



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 7 

 

 

 

B. Alternative B 

The alignment for Alternative B begins at the end of Whites Subdivision Road by 

veering right and following a combination of existing ATV trails and land 

clearings for approximately 3,200 feet. The total length of this alignment is 

approximately 6,500 feet, and the total elevation gain is approximately 1,125 

feet, resulting in an average grade of 17.4%. 

This longitudinal grade is one of the primary drawbacks of Alternative B. Although 

it is the shortest route of all the alternatives, a significant portion of this 

alignment would have a grade of nearly 30%. There are plenty of offroad trails 

with grades this steep; however, it would not meet any Virginia Department of 

Transportation (VDOT) road standards.  

Coordination with Appalachian Power would not likely be necessary for this 

alternative, as it does not traverse any permanent utility easements associated 

with the high voltage transmission lines. 

It is expected that there would be less earthwork involved with cut and fill side 

slopes for Alternative B than Alternative A since the existing terrain is slightly less 

steep, though there will be some sections of this alignment that may require 

similar slope stabilization methods as mentioned for Alternative A. 

A secondary drawback of Alternative B is that its connection point to the 

existing gravel DWR service road would be further away from Laurel Bed Lake 

Road than the other alternatives. If this alternative is constructed, the path 

along the DWR road to Laurel Bed Lake Road would be an additional 12,570 feet 

(2.38 miles) from its connection to the new road. If the DWR road is to be 

improved and/or paved to accommodate the new traffic from the proposed 

access road, Alternative B would require an additional 1.67 miles of existing road 

improvement as compared to Alternative A. 

C. Alternative C 

Alternative C was developed as a combination of Alternative A and Alternative 

B. Its alignment begins along the same route as that of Alternative B to avoid 

the sharper curves in the beginning portion of Alternative A. After departure 

from the Alternative B route, the alignment follows a gentler grade for 

approximately 1,200 feet and then matches the route of Alternative A for the 

remainder of the alignment. The total length of this alignment is approximately 

8,700 feet, and the total elevation gain is approximately 1,030 feet, resulting in 

an average grade of 11.8%. 



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 8 

 

 

 

Although Alternative C has a reasonable average grade, portions of the 

alignment would have grades of nearly 30%, like Alternative B.  

Coordination with Appalachian Power would be necessary for this alternative 

since the route would cross the permanent utility easement for high voltage 

transmission lines. Alternative C could provide vehicular access points for up to 

two (2) transmission towers. 

Since the last portion of the alignment is identical to Alternative A, it shares the 

benefit of proximity to the lake and the shorter distance along the DWR service 

road to Laurel Bed Lake Road. It also shares with Alternative A the challenge of 

the steep side slopes and associated stabilization measures. 

D. Alternative D 

Alternative D was developed as a variation of Alternative B, with an alignment 

that follows exactly the route of Alternative B for approximately 4,800 feet, and 

then detours near the top of the ridge to meet the DWR service road at a different 

connection point. The total length of this alignment is approximately 8,630 feet, 

and the total elevation gain is approximately 1,230 feet, resulting in an average 

grade of 15.8% to the top of the ridge. Like Alternative B, a significant portion of 

Alternative D’s alignment would have a grade of nearly 30%. 

The only noteworthy difference between the two alignments is the different 

endpoint. Since the DWR service road is further away from the ridge at this 

location, the proposed alignment would need to traverse an additional 850’ down 

the lake’s side of the mountain in order to connect to the DWR road.  Therefore, 

more coordination will likely be needed with the DWR for the additional 

construction required on public lands.  

If this alternative is constructed, the path along the DWR road to Laurel Bed Lake 

Road would be an additional 9,170 feet (1.74 miles) from its connection to the 

new road (more than Alternative A but less than Alternative B). 

TABLE 1 – ALIGNMENT LENGTH AND ELEVATION DATA 

Alternative Length of Proposed 
Access Road 

Avg. 
Grade 

Endpoint 
Elevation* 

Length of DWR 
Road Improvement 

Alternative A 8,868’ 11.6% 3,861’ 3,773’ 

Alternative B 6,459’ 17.4% 3,963 12,572’ 

Alternative C 8,704’ 11.8% 3,861’ 3,773’ 

Alternative D 8,622’ 15.8% 3,964’ 9,102’ 

*All alternatives begin at an approximate elevation of 2,840’.



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 9 

 

 

 

IV. SELECTED ALTERNATIVE  

Multiple factors were considered in selecting the most feasible alternative, including 

projected relative cost of the proposed access road, the ability to meet VDOT road 

standards, public safety, and other secondary benefits of each route. Additional 

consideration was given to the need to improve the existing gravel DWR service road 

to which the proposed access road would connect. 

Alternative A was selected as the most feasible of all the alternatives for the 

following reasons: 

1. It is the only alternative with longitudinal grades that could enable the road to 

meet VDOT standards. Since there are no available county road standards 

available, the VDOT GS-4 (Rural Local Road System) classification was chosen 

as the applicable geometric design standards. A copy of this set of standards 

from the VDOT Road Design Manual can be found in Appendix C. The GS-4 

standards refer to Table 5-2 in the AASHTO “Green Book” for maximum grades. 

An excerpt from the Green Book is included in Appendix C that contains Table 

5-2. Because the proposed access road would be considered a low-volume road, 

the maximum grade may be up to 19% for the lowest design speed of 15 mph. 

Additionally, the somewhat gentler grades of Alternative A would allow for a 

higher level of driver comfort and public safety related to road steepness.  

 

2. It has the best connection point to the existing gravel DWR service road.  From 

the end of the proposed alignment, it would only be 0.71 miles along the existing 

service road to its intersection with Laurel Bed Lake Road. This segment of the 

service road has a gentle average grade of 6.6% and does not appear to have 

sharp curves or challenging terrain that would prevent it from being improved 

to the GS-4 standards. It is understood that the current scope does not include 

improvement of this service road; however, if it is decided in the future that it 

should be widened and/or paved to match the proposed access road, Alternative 

A would save 1.67 miles of improvement as compared to Alternative B.  

 

3. It provides the greatest access to Appalachian Power transmission towers and 

neighboring properties. The route would be in close proximity to up to four of the 

transmission towers in the project area and therefore could create more ideal 

secure access points for Appalachian Power vehicles. The alignment would also 

cross an additional parcel owned by a third nearby resident, providing the 

resident with access to a part of the property that is otherwise inaccessible. It 

should be noted that the project would be subject to Russell County’s subdivision 

ordinance. 



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 17632 10 

 

 

 

V. SUMMARY 

Regardless of which alternative is chosen, the proposed project would have challenges 

in design, permitting, and construction. In addition to those challenges associated 

with the proposed access road, the DWR has indicated that the aforementioned 

existing service road surface is not adequate for the traffic introduced by the 

proposed access road and therefore would need to be improved. Improving or 

connecting to this road would require environmental clearances and permits from 

multiple agencies/parties, including but not limited to the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Native American tribes, the Environmental Protection 

Agency, applicable state agencies, and others. It is expected that more challenges 

may arise during design and/or construction.  

Despite the challenges and subject to surveying and geotechnical investigation, 

Thompson & Litton concludes that the majority of Alternative A can be constructed 

in accordance with the minimum rural local road standards. It should be noted that 

the alignment is subject to change and will likely need to be adjusted during design as 

survey is acquired and more details are obtained about the existing terrain. 

As part of this study, Thompson & Litton has developed the probable construction 

cost estimates for each alternative that can be viewed in Appendix B. Each estimate 

includes a breakdown of potential cost categories as well as the additional cost that 

may be expected for improvement of the existing DWR service road. It should be 

noted that these estimates were generated using many factors that are subject to 

change and are only intended for relative comparison and to provide a rough 

expectation of the order of magnitude funding that will need to be acquired. 

There is no question that Russell County and surrounding areas would benefit greatly 

from this new access to Laurel Bed Lake. Access to outdoor recreation areas can 

greatly influence public health and wellness. The proposed access road would provide 

easier access from an entirely new region of Southwest Virginia and therefore 

encourage more participation in outdoor recreation. Additionally, the proposed 

access road could drastically reduce response times for first responders in the case 

of any emergency situations at the lake, making this project a matter of public safety.  

If adequate funding is available for the project, it is recommended to move forward 

with design and planning considerations to make this idea a reality for local 

communities.  

 



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 14795 A-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

Alternative Alignment Exhibits 



LAUREL BED LAKEALTERNATIVE A ALIGNMENT
APPROX. LENGTH = 8,868'

APPROX. AVG. GRADE = 11.6%

LA
UR

E L
 B

ED
 L

AKE  RD .

EXISTING DWR GRAVEL SERVICE ROAD
APPROX. 3,773 L.F. TO BE IMPROVED

BEGIN ALTERNATIVE A ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 2,840'

END ALTERNATIVE A ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 3,861'

LA
UR

EL
BE

D
 L

AK
E  R

D.

EXHIBIT
A

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
AC

CE
SS

 R
O

AD
 A

LI
GN

M
EN

T
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

E 
A

1" =   
( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
01000 1000 2000

1000'

500

Designed

Drawn

Checked

Date

Project No.

T H O M P S O N
& L I T T O N

17632

RMW
RMW/DLL
TAM
DECEMBER 2023

LA
U

RE
L 

BE
D 

LA
KE

 A
CC

ES
S 

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T

FE
AS

IB
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

DY



LAUREL BED LAKE

ALTERNATIVE B
APPROX. LENGTH = 6,459'

APPROX. AVG. GRADE = 17.4%

LA
UR

E L
 B

ED
 L

AKE  RD .

EXISTING DWR GRAVEL SERVICE ROAD
APPROX. 12,572 L.F. TO BE IMPROVED.

BEGIN ALTERNATIVE B ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 2,840'

END ALTERNATIVE B ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 3,963'

LA
UR

EL
BE

D
 L

AK
E  R

D.

EXHIBIT
B

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
AC

CE
SS

 R
O

AD
 A

LI
GN

M
EN

T
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

E 
B

1" =   
( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
01000 1000 2000

1000'

500

Designed

Drawn

Checked

Date

Project No.

T H O M P S O N
& L I T T O N

17632

RMW
RMW/DLL
TAM
DECEMBER 2023

LA
U

RE
L 

BE
D 

LA
KE

 A
CC

ES
S 

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T

FE
AS

IB
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

DY



LAUREL BED LAKE

ALTERNATIVE C
APPROX. LENGTH = 8,704'
APPROX. AVG. GRADE = 11.8%

LA
UR

E L
 B

ED
 L

AKE  RD .

EXISTING DWR GRAVEL SERVICE ROAD
APPROX. 3,773 L.F. TO BE IMPROVED.

BEGIN ALTERNATIVE C ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 2,840' END ALTERNATIVE C ALIGNMENT

APPROX. EL. = 3,861'

LA
UR

EL
BE

D
 L

AK
E  R

D.

EXHIBIT
C

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
AC

CE
SS

 R
O

AD
 A

LI
GN

M
EN

T
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

E 
C

1" =   
( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
01000 1000 2000

1000'

500

Designed

Drawn

Checked

Date

Project No.

T H O M P S O N
& L I T T O N

17632

RMW
RMW/DLL
TAM
DECEMBER 2023

LA
U

RE
L 

BE
D 

LA
KE

 A
CC

ES
S 

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T

FE
AS

IB
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

DY



LAUREL BED LAKE

ALTERNATIVE D
APPROX. LENGTH = 8,622'

APPROX. AVG. GRADE = 15.8%

LA
UR

E L
 B

ED
 L

AKE  RD .

EXISTING DWR GRAVEL SERVICE ROAD
APPROX. 9,102 L.F. TO BE IMPROVED.

BEGIN ALTERNATIVE D ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 2,840'

END ALTERNATIVE D ALIGNMENT
APPROX. EL. = 3,964'

LA
UR

EL
BE

D
 L

AK
E  R

D.

EXHIBIT
D

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
AC

CE
SS

 R
O

AD
 A

LI
GN

M
EN

T
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

E 
D

1" =   
( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
01000 1000 2000

1000'

500

Designed

Drawn

Checked

Date

Project No.

T H O M P S O N
& L I T T O N

17632

RMW
RMW/DLL
TAM
DECEMBER 2023

LA
U

RE
L 

BE
D 

LA
KE

 A
CC

ES
S 

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T

FE
AS

IB
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

DY



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 14795 B-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 

Probable Project Cost Estimates 

 



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 100,000 $10 $1,000,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 21 $12,000 $252,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 1,700 $150 $255,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 3,500 $100 $350,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 8,300 $45 $373,500

GUARDRAIL L.F. 8,000 $50 $400,000

GUARDRAIL END TERMINALS EA. 6 $5,000 $30,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $50,000 $50,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $35,600 $35,600

SEEDING ACRE 7 $5,000 $35,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $281,000 $281,000

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES EA. 4 $120,000 $480,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $532,000 $532,000

MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $204,000 $204,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $4,278,100

Construction Contingency (10%) $427,810

Total Construction Cost $4,705,910

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $1,411,773

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $6,117,683

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE A - PROPOSED ACCESS ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 9,100 $10 $91,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 2 $12,000 $24,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 800 $150 $120,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 1,500 $100 $150,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 3,600 $45 $162,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $10,000 $10,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $15,000 $15,000

SEEDING ACRE 1 $2,000 $2,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $88,000 $88,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $33,000 $33,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $695,000

Construction Contingency (10%) $69,500

Total Construction Cost $764,500

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $229,350

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $993,850

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE A - IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING DWR ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 73,000 $10 $730,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 15 $12,000 $180,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 1,200 $150 $180,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 2,500 $100 $250,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 6,100 $45 $274,500

GUARDRAIL L.F. 6,000 $50 $300,000

GUARDRAIL END TERMINALS EA. 4 $5,000 $20,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $50,000 $50,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $26,000 $26,000

SEEDING ACRE 6 $5,000 $30,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $206,200 $206,200

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES EA. 3 $120,000 $360,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $392,000 $392,000

MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $150,000 $150,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $3,148,700

Construction Contingency (10%) $314,870

Total Construction Cost $3,463,570

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $1,039,071

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $4,502,641

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE B - PROPOSED ACCESS ROAD



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 30,200 $10 $302,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 6 $12,000 $72,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 2,500 $150 $375,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 4,900 $100 $490,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 11,800 $45 $531,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $20,000 $20,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $50,000 $50,000

SEEDING ACRE 2 $2,000 $4,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $160,000 $160,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $100,000 $100,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $2,104,000

Construction Contingency (10%) $210,400

Total Construction Cost $2,314,400

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $694,320

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $3,008,720

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE B - IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING DWR ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 98,000 $10 $980,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 20 $12,000 $240,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 1,700 $150 $255,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 3,400 $100 $340,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 8,100 $45 $364,500

GUARDRAIL L.F. 8,000 $50 $400,000

GUARDRAIL END TERMINALS EA. 6 $5,000 $30,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $50,000 $50,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $34,800 $34,800

SEEDING ACRE 7 $5,000 $35,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $275,000 $275,000

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES EA. 4 $120,000 $480,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $523,000 $523,000

MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $201,000 $201,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $4,208,300

Construction Contingency (10%) $420,830

Total Construction Cost $4,629,130

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $1,388,739

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $6,017,869

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE C - PROPOSED ACCESS ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 9,100 $10 $91,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 2 $12,000 $24,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 800 $150 $120,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 1,500 $100 $150,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 3,600 $45 $162,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $10,000 $10,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $15,000 $15,000

SEEDING ACRE 1 $2,000 $2,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $88,000 $88,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $33,000 $33,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $695,000

Construction Contingency (10%) $69,500

Total Construction Cost $764,500

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $229,350

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $993,850

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE C - IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING DWR ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 97,000 $10 $970,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 20 $12,000 $240,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 1,600 $150 $240,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 3,300 $100 $330,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 8,000 $45 $360,000

GUARDRAIL L.F. 8,000 $50 $400,000

GUARDRAIL END TERMINALS EA. 4 $5,000 $20,000

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $50,000 $50,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $34,400 $34,400

SEEDING ACRE 7 $5,000 $35,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $270,600 $270,600

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES EA. 3 $120,000 $360,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $497,000 $497,000

MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $191,000 $191,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $3,998,000

Construction Contingency (10%) $399,800

Total Construction Cost $4,397,800

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $1,319,340

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $5,717,140

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE D - PROPOSED ACCESS ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

EARTHWORK C.Y. 21,800 $10 $218,000

CLEARING & GRUBBING ACRE 5 $12,000 $60,000

SURFACE COURSE TYPE SM-9.5A TON 1,800 $150 $270,000

BASE COURSE TYPE BM-25.0 TON 3,500 $100 $350,000

AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TYPE I NO. 21B TON 8,500 $45 $382,500

INCIDENTAL ITEMS L.S. 1 $20,000 $20,000

PAVEMENT MARKING L.S. 1 $36,000 $36,000

SEEDING ACRE 2 $2,000 $4,000

DRAINAGE ITEMS L.S. 1 $124,000 $124,000

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS L.S. 1 $73,000 $73,000

Subtotal Construction Cost $1,537,500

Construction Contingency (10%) $153,750

Total Construction Cost $1,691,250

RELATED COSTS

Related Costs (30% TCC) $507,375

TOTAL PROBABLE PROJECT COST $2,198,625

PROBABLE PROJECT COST

ALTERNATIVE D - IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING DWR ROAD

Related Costs include, but are no limited to, land & rights, administration, legal, funding, bonds, basic engineering, 

construction administration, surveying, geotechnical, other additional engineering, and inspection.



Feasibility Study 
Laurel Bed Lake Access Development 

Russell County, VA 

 

 

T&L Project No. 14795 C-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

 

Road Standards

 

 

 

 

 

 



�����

�

�

���	�
�����������
�������������������������������
�	��������

��������
� !"#$�

�
�
�
�
�$����%�

&$'�(%�
')$$&�
*#)+,�

#�%�#"#�
��&�"'�

*-,�
�

#�%�#"#�
'� ))�%(�
'�(+��
&�'��%�$�

*.,�
�

#�%�#"#�
/�&�+�
 ��

'"�����%(�
 ��

)��$#$%��

�

*0,�*1,�*2,�

#�%�#"#��
/�&�+�

 ��(��&$&�
'+ "!&$�'�
�"��3���!!�

�
*�,�

#�%�#"#�
/�&�+�
 ��&���+�
�� %��
'! )$�

�
�
�
*4,�
�

'! )$�

�
�

%$/��%&�
�$� %'��"��$&�

#�%�#"#�
5��&($��/�&�+'��%&�

�$�����!�
�!$���%�$'�

/678�
(��

/6789:7���
(��

*�,�
�&��

 �$��.;;;�

!$�$!� 2;� 4�;<� 1.2<�

.1<�
�
�.<�
�

=<�

�<�>�1?��

�'�1@�1��A�1��

'BB��
�997C97B�
*=,�

� !!�%(�
12� 2=-<� 0�;<�

�'�0@�0��A�05�
1;� 11�<� 0;2<�

# "%���% "'�
02� 0��<� .2;<�

1<�>�0?��
0;� .�2<� .;;<�

*�,�
�&���2;;�
� �.;;;�

!$�$!� 2;� 4�;<� 1.2<�

..<�
�
�;<�

�
�<�

�<�>�1?��

�'�1@�1��A1��

� !!�%(�
12� 2=-<� 0�;<�

�'�0@�0��A�05�
1;� 11�<� 0;2<�

# "%���% "'�
02� 0��<� .2;<�

1<�>�0?��
0;� .�2<� .;;<�

*�,�
�&��1;;�
� ��2;;�

!$�$!� 2;� 4�;<� 1.2<�
..<�

�
-<�

�
2<�

�<�>�1?��

�'���
� !!�%(�

12� 2=-<� 0�;<�

1;� 11�<� 0;2<�

.;<� 1<�>�0?��
# "%���% "'�

02� 0��<� .2;<�

0;� .�2<� .;;<�

�"��$%��
�&��
"%&$��
1;;�

!$�$!�
12� 2=-<� 0�;<�

�=<�
�
=<�

�
.<� 1<�>�0?�� �'���

1;� 11�<� 0;2<

� !!�%(�
02� 0��<� .2;<�

0;� .�2<� .;;<�

# "%���% "'�
.2� �02<� �22<�

.;� 44<� �.2<�

�

����������
���
�

!9D�EBF6GC�FHBBEF�IJB�GBCBJIKKL�IHHK6MINKB�79�J9IEF�D678�D6CE6CG�IK6GCOBC7�6C�
J9KK6CG�9J�O9:C7I6C9:F�7BJJI6C�D8BJB�BCP6J9COBC7IK�M9CE6769CF�E6M7I7BQ�
�

+6G8�EBF6GC�FHBBEF�IJB�GBCBJIKKL�IHHK6MINKB�79�J9IEF�6C�KBPBK�7BJJI6C�9J�D8BJB�978BJ�
BCP6J9COBC7IK�M9CE6769CF�IJB�RIP9JINKBQ�
�

�C7BJOBE6I7B�EBF6GC�FHBBEF�D9:KE�NB�IHHJ9HJ6I7B�D8BJB�7BJJI6C�ICE�978BJ�
BCP6J9COBC7IK�M9CE6769CF�IJB�I�M9ON6CI769C�9R�789FB�EBFMJ6NBE�R9J�K9D�ICE�86G8�
FHBBEQ�
�

�9J�O6C6O:O�EBF6GC�FHBBEF�R9J�.2;��&��ICE�:CEBJ@�FBB���'+� �(JBBC�599S@�
�8IH7BJ�2@�'BM769C�2Q.Q�@�HIGB�2�.@��INKB�2��Q�
�

'7ICEIJE����2Q����F:HBJBKBPI769C�NIFBE�9C�=T�OIU6O:O�6F�79�NB�:FBEQ�
�

�C�6CM9JH9JI7BE�79DCF�9J�978BJ�N:6K7�:H�IJBIF@�"JNIC�'7ICEIJE�('�=�OIL�NB�:FBEQ�Q�
V5:6K7�:HW�6F�D8BJB�78BJB�6F�F:RR6M6BC7�EBPBK9HOBC7�IK9CG�78B�J9IEDIL�78I7�X:F76R6BF�I�
CBBE�79�M8ICCBK6YB�7JIRR6M�6C79�ICE�9:7�9R�HJ9HBJ76BF�:76K6Y6CG�M:JN�ICE�G:77BJQ�
�

�9J�)IFF6CG�'6G87�&6F7ICMB��J67BJ6I�'BB���'+� �(JBBC�599S@��8IH7BJ�0@�'BM769C�
0Q.Q1@�HIGB�0�=Q�
�

�9J�OIU6O:O�GJIEBF�JBKI76PB�79�7BJJI6C�ICE�EBF6GC�FHBBE@�FBB���'+� �(JBBC�
599S@��8IH7BJ�2@�'BM769C�2Q.Q�@�HIGB�2�0@��INKB�2�.Q�
�

�9J��BMJBI769CIK��MMBFF��9IE�EBF6GC�F7ICEIJEF@�FBB���'+� �(JBBC�599S@�
�8IH7BJ�2@�'BM769C�2Q1Q.@�HIGB�2�.1Q��

�
��

���
��
���
�

*�,� "FB�&BF6GC�ZBIJ��&��R9J�CBD�M9CF7J:M769C�ICE�JBM9CF7J:M769C�HJ9XBM7F�6C�
IMM9JEICMB�D678�[\]̂_̀abcde_f]eg]h@��8IH7BJ�.�@�V�$i"$'��� ����������
&���W�ICE��9JO�!&��;1Q��9J�����HJ9XBM7F�9J�J9IEF�D678��&��j�1;;@�'BB��9IE�
&BF6GC�#IC:IK@��HHBCE6U��@�V("�&$!�%$'�� ������)� k$��'QW�

�

*.,� !ICB�D6E78�79�NB��.l�I7�IKK�6C7BJM8ICGB�K9MI769CFQ�
�

*0,� �C�O9:C7I6C9:F�7BJJI6C�9J�FBM769CF�D678�8BIPL�BIJ78D9JS@�78B�GJIEBE�D6E78�9R�
F89:KEBJ�6C�M:7F�OIL�NB�EBMJBIFBE�NL�.l@�N:7�6C�C9�MIFB�F8IKK�78B�M:7�F89:KEBJ�
D6E78�NB�KBFF�78IC�.lQ�

�

*1,� #6C6O:O�F89:KEBJ�FK9HB�F8IKK�NB�=T�9C�K9D�F6EB�ICE�FIOB�FK9HB�IF�HIPBOBC7�
9C�86G8�F6EB�*'BB�'7<EQ�('��.,Q�

�

*2,� /8BC�78B�OI6CK6CB�6F�.�KICBF�HJ9P6EB�1l�D6EB�HIPBE�F89:KEBJF�*J6G87�ICE�KBR7,�
D8BC�EBF6GC�LBIJ��&��BUMBBEF�.;;;��)&@�D678�2T�9J�O9JB�7J:MS�ICE�N:F�
:FIGBQ�)J9P6EB�2<�D6EB�HIPBE�F89:KEBJ�D8BC�EBF6GC�LBIJ��&��BUMBBEF�.;;;�
�)&@�D678�2T�9J�O9JB�7J:MS�ICE�N:F�:FIGB�ICE�78B�J9:7B�6F�IC���'+� �
IHHJ9PBE�"Q'Q�56MLMKB��9:7B�*�@�4��9J��4�,�9J�EBF6GCI7BE�IF�I�N6MLMKB�J9:7B�9C�I�
K9MIKKL�IE9H7BE�7JICFH9J7I769C�HKIC��KK�F89:KEBJF�C97�NB6CG�HIPBE�D6KK�8IPB�78B�
OI6CK6CB�HIPBOBC7�F7J:M7:JB�BU7BCEBE��l�9C�78B�FIOB�FK9HB�6C79�78B�F89:KEBJ�79�
BK6O6CI7B�JIPBK6CG�I7�78B�HIPBOBC7�BEGBQ��9J�IEE6769CIK�G:6EICMB�9C�F89:KEBJ�
D6E78F@�FBB���'+� �(JBBC�599S@��8IH7BJ�2@�'BM769C�2Q.Q.@�HIGB�2��Q�

*�,� ��8LEJI:K6M�ICIKLF6F�6F�CBMBFFIJL�79�EB7BJO6CB�IM7:IK�EBH78�JBm:6JBOBC7Q�

*4,� �EE6769CIK�9J�O9E6R6BE�FK9HB�MJ67BJ6I�79�NB�IHHK6BE�D8BJB�F89DC�9C�7LH6MIK�
FBM769CFQ�

*=,� 'BB�f]eg]h_\n_opa_qorgsogra_]ê_trĉda_̀cucbc\e�v��9K:OB���v�)IJ7�.�&BF6GC�
�6EF�v��8IH7BJ���(B9OB7J6MFQ�

*-,� �9J�IEE6769CIK�6CR9JOI769C�9C�F6G87�E6F7ICMB�JBm:6JBOBC7F�9C�GJIEBF�9R�0�HBJMBC7�
9J�GJBI7BJ@�FBB���'+� �(JBBC�599S@��8IH7BJ�0@�'BM769C�0Q.Q.@�HIGB�0�.@��INKB�
0�.Q�

�

�����������w�����

��������������������������������������������
x��BPQ��A�-�



Table 5-2. Maximum Grades for Local Roads in Rural Areas

Type of  
Terrain

U.S. Customary Metric

Maximum Grade (%) for  
Specified Design Speed (mph)

Maximum Grade (%) for  
Specified Design Speed (km/h)

15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100
Level 9 8 7 7 7 7 7 6 6 5 9 8 7 7 7 7 6 6 5

Rolling 12 11 11 10 10 10 9 8 7 6 12 11 11 10 10 9 8 7 6

Mountainous 17 16 15 14 14 13 12 10 10 — 17 16 15 14 13 12 10 10 —

NOTE:  Short lengths of grade in rural areas, such as grades less than 500 ft [150 m] in length, one-way 
downgrades, and grades on low-volume roads (AADT less than 2,000 veh/day) may be up to 2 
percent steeper than the grades shown in this table.



Heart of 
Appalachia 2023 
Outcomes



Our mission
Recognizing the Coalfield Counties have a unique culture, 
history, and scenic beauty, the VA Legislature created the 
Heart of Appalachia Tourism Authority in 1993 to tell that 

authentic story and promote this region as the exciting 
tourism destination it is. Focusing on our exciting outdoor 

adventure and serene scenic beauty, we promote the 
westernmost localities of Buchanan, Dickenson, Lee, Russell, 

Scott, Tazewell, Wise Counties and the City of Norton.



Our Marketing 
Strategy

Advertising

Outcomes

Adjust

Report

Analytics



Print Ads

Social Media Ads

Traffic to HOA Website



HOA Website – Five Year Trend

39,425

35,548
33,554

27,000

96,000

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023



Appalachian Backroads Website – Five Year Trend

25,272

20,083

25,373

31,000

42,000

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023



Appalachian Backroads Website Visitors - Top 10 Cities

Atlanta Ashburn New York Chicago Nashville Charlotte Columbus Raleigh Washington DC Roanoke



Heart of Appalachia WebsiteVisitors - Top 10 Cities

Atlanta Nashville Ashburn Roanoke New York

Charlotte Virginia Beach Raleigh Chicago Bristol



Top 10 Click Throughs From 

Heart of Appalachia Website

1) Blue Highway Fest

2) Heart of Appalachia App

3) Breaks Interstate Park

4) The Crooked Road

5) Ralph 2 Concerts / Events

6) Big Stone Gap / Things to Do

7) Italian Village Pizza

8) Appalachian Mountain Cabins

9) Heart of Appalachia Facebook Page

10)Grassy Creek Farm



Top 10 Click Throughs From 

Appalachian Backroads Website

1) Heart of Appalachia Website / Home Page

2) Appalachian Backroads Facebook Page

3) Back of the Dragon Website / Home Page

4) ABR Map / Info Request

5) Heart of Appalachia Website / Lodging

6) Back of the Dragon Website  / Plan Your Trip

7) Heart of Appalachia Website / Experience the Spirits of 

the Clinch

8) Trailhead ATV Resorts / Rentals

9) Heart of Appalachia Facebook Page

10) Appalachian Backroads Instagram Page



Looking 
Ahead…

• HOA Website Traffic has already 

surpassed 26,000 YTD (January 

17, 2024)

• Fishing Guide Revision in the 

works

• Spirits of the Clinch Brochure – 

In print phase

• MLP Grants - Upcoming



Thank You

ksmith@heartofappalachia.com



Russell County VDOT Repair Request 

Russell County VDOT Repair Request 

Location: 

Town (If Applicable) 

Route or Street Name 

Closest Intersection 

I need a road repaired. 

1-- Select One --

Russel County 

VDOT Repair Request 

Please describe the repair requested 

First Name Last Name 

Steve Breeding
Highlight





By Laws 
Russell County  
• Adopted May 5, 2014 
 
Article I 
Russell County Board of Supervisors, Officers & Their Selection 
A. There shall be seven (7) members of the Board of Supervisors, six (6) elected 
for four-year terms by citizen vote of each of the six (6) Districts of Russell County 
and one (1) member elected at-large by the entire County for four years. 
 
B. The Officers of the Board of Supervisors shall consist of a Chairman and Vice Chairman, 
each of whom shall serve for a term of one (1) calendar year.  
 
C. Nomination of Officers shall be made from the Board at the first meeting of each calendar 
year.  Election of Officers shall follow immediately. 

D.  A standing Budget/Finance Committee shall be appointed by the newly elected Board 
Chairman.  This committee shall consist of two (2) Board members and two (2) staff 
members.  
 
Article II 
Duties of Officers 
A. The Chairman shall:  
(1) Preside at all meetings;  
(2) Work closely with the County Administrator on day to day matters, approve appropriate 
financial documents, and approve the agenda for all meetings; 
(3) Carry out such other duties as assigned by the Board.  
 
B. The Vice-Chairman shall act in the absence or inability of the Chairman to act. 
 
C. The Budget/Finance Committee shall be responsible for preparation of the annual County 
budget and for presentation during a regular or special Board meeting before a vote is taken 
on the Budget each year.  Other financial matters shall be considered by this committee 
before presentation to the full Board.  
 
Article III 
Agenda Preparation Policy 
A. The County Administrator shall prepare an agenda for each regular meeting of the Board 
of Supervisors. Supervisors, staff, and others may submit to the County Administrator items 
for the agenda at any time prior to Noon Wednesday of the week preceding the regular 
meeting to which such item relates. Emergency items will be added as an amendment to 
the agenda.  
 
B. Copies of the agenda shall be made available electronically for each Supervisor by close 
of business on Tuesday prior to the Board meeting and an agenda complete with a packet of 
materials for the Board members  and News Media serving the County and the public not 
later than close of business on Thursday preceding the meeting to which it relates.  
 

Lonzo Lester
Underline

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Lonzo Lester
Underline

Lonzo Lester
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Article IV 
Meetings 
A. The time and place of Board Meetings shall be set from time to time by resolution of the 
Board in conformance with State Law. The regular meeting schedule shall be set at the 
organizational meeting held in January each year.  
 
B. Minutes from the previous meeting shall be delivered to the Board members with the 
agenda prior to the next meeting. Unless requested by a Board member, the minutes will 
not be read and will be approved upon motion and vote of the Board.  
 
C. Order of Business 
(1) Commencement of Meetings:  
At the time established in accordance with Article IV (A) of these By-Laws for the 
commencement of regular meetings or at the hour specified for continued or special 
meetings, the Chairman shall call the meeting to order and shall direct the clerk to note the 
absence of any Board members by roll call. A quorum shall be required for commencement 
of any meeting.  
 
(2) Agenda:  
An agenda shall be prepared by the County Administrator in accordance with Article III 
under these By-laws. The proposed agenda shall be adopted by the Board at each meeting. 
The agenda will include under New Business “Reports from Designated Standing 
Committees”. Should the chairman or any member of the Board have a matter which he or 
she feels needs to be brought to the attention of the Board but which is not on the agenda, 
or if there is an amendment to the order of the agenda, he or she may make a motion that 
an addition or amendment be made to the agenda. Such amended agenda must be 
approved by a majority of the Board members present. 

D. Presentations: 
Matters to be presented to the Board may be arranged by persons prior to the meetings and 
placed on the Agenda.  The County Administrator must be notified by Wednesday of the 
week prior to the Board meeting.  Any materials to be used for the presentation must be 
provided and included in agenda packet.  Additional materials presented at the Board 
meeting must be approved by the Chairman prior to dissemination.  These presentations 
are strongly encouraged to be limited to five (5) minutes and when four (4) minutes has 
elapsed, the Chairman may instruct the speaker that one (1) minute is remaining.  
 
E. Quorum & Method of Voting 
A majority of the members of the Board of Supervisors shall constitute a quorum of the 
Board. All questions submitted to the Board for decision shall be determined by voice vote 
of a majority of the supervisors voting on any such questions, unless otherwise provided by 
law. The name of each member voting and how he or she voted must be recorded.  Roll Call 
votes may be requested by any Board member.  
 
F. Procedure for Roll Call of Board Members 
(1) The Members of the Board of Supervisors shall cast votes in district order on a rotating 
basis per meeting.  
(2) The Chairman of the Board of Supervisors shall cast the last vote. 
(3) The Chairman/Clerk shall restate all motions before a vote is taken and the result of the 



vote shall be announced following each vote.  
 
G. General Rules of Procedure 
The Board’s Parliamentary Procedures shall be Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised, 11th 
edition, specifically to include Section 49, Conduct of Business in Boards, pages 486 – 488, 
in all matters not covered by the Board’s bylaws, to the extent compatible with law and the 
historical practices of the Board. The County Attorney, or his or her designee, shall act as 
Parliamentarian to the Board. Any questions involving the interpretation or application of 
Robert’s Rules shall be addressed to the County Attorney. The Board may amend, by 
Resolution, the rules as it deems appropriate. The following rules shall apply:  
 
(1) Members are not required to obtain the floor before making motions or speaking, which 
they can do while seated.  
 
(2) All motions require a second except for nominations for appointments to other boards, 
authorities or commissions. 
 
(3) There is no limit to the number of times a member can speak to a question, and motions 
to close or limit debate generally should not be entertained.    
 
(4) Informal discussion of a subject is permitted while no motion is pending.  
 
(5) The Chairman can speak in discussion without leaving the chair, can vote on all 
questions, but cannot make motions unless by consent of a majority of Board members 
present.  
 
(6) No Board member is required to vote on any issue. If any Board member determines, 
prior to the calling of any issue before the Board, that he, because of conflict or otherwise, 
will abstain from voting on such issue, he shall announce such intention at the time the 
issue comes before the Board and shall not participate in the discussion on such issue or 
question. An abstention shall be counted for the purpose of determining a quorum. An 
abstention defeats a motion requiring a unanimous vote.  
 
(7) In the incidence of a tie vote, the issue voted upon by the Board is dead and therefore 
voted down. 
 
(8) If a primary or substitute motion is made at a Board meeting where at least six (6) 
members are present and the motion is voted on and fails, the same or a substantively 
similar motion cannot be reconsidered by the Board within the following twelve (12) months 
except by a primary or substitute motion made by a member of the Board who voted on the 
prevailing side where there are no less than six (6) Board members present, and only if 
two-thirds (2/3) of the Board members present vote to reconsider the action previously 
decided. 
 
(9) Only Board members and the Parliamentarian shall have standing to raise 
noncompliance with these General Rules of Procedure, and only during the current meeting 
at the time of violation. Failure of the Board to comply with these General Rules of 
Procedure shall not invalidate any action taken by the Board.  
 
H. Member Absenting Himself from Meeting Prior to Adjournment 
After the name of any member of the Board has been recorded as present at any meeting of 
the Board, he shall not absent himself from the remainder of the meeting prior to 
adjournment unless by consent of the Board.  



 
I. Board to Sit with Open Doors 
The Board of Supervisors shall sit with open doors and all persons conducting themselves in 
an orderly manner may attend the meetings; however, the Board may hold closed sessions 
as permitted by law and when deemed necessary by a majority vote of the Board.  
 
A consent agenda shall be introduced by a motion “to approve” by any Board member, and 
shall be considered by the Board as a single item. There shall be no debate or discussion by 
any member of the Board regarding any item on the consent agenda. The Clerk or his/her 
designee shall provide a brief written summary or memo on each item included in the 
consent agenda. Upon request of any Board member who wishes to question or discuss an 
item, that item shall be removed from the Consent Agenda. This item shall be transferred 
onto the agenda for consideration.  
 
J. Citizens Comment Period  
Rules for Citizen Comment Period 
To ensure that the affairs of the Board and its committees may be conducted in an orderly 
manner, to ensure that all persons desiring to address the Board on matters pertinent to it 
are afforded an opportunity to do so, to permit persons in attendance to observe and hear 
the proceedings of the Board without distraction, and to permit to the fullest extent the 
Board to conduct County business with minimal disruption, the following rules are 
established.  
 
(1) Each person desiring to speak during the Citizens’ Comment period on the agenda must 
provide name and address prior to their comments.  
 
(2) Each speaker  is strongly encouraged to limit remarks to a period of three (3) minutes 
per comment period; when two (2) minutes have passed the speaker  may be reminded 
that there is one (1) minute remaining.  
 
(3) Speakers may not donate their time to other speakers.  
 
(4) Speakers will not be permitted to use audiovisual materials or other visual displays, but 
may present written and photographic materials to the Board members.  
 
(5) Comments must be confined to matters germane to the business of the Board of 
Supervisors and shall not be cumulative or repetitive.  
 
(6) Speakers should address the Board with decorum – loud, boisterous, and disruptive 
behavior, obscenity, and vulgarity should be avoided as well as other words or acts tending 
to evoke violence or deemed to be a breach of the peace.  
 
(7) The Citizens’ Comment period is not intended to be a question and answer period or 
time for dialogue with County officials. Questions which are raised during a comment period 
may at the discretion of the Board be responded to by County officials after sufficient time 
for appropriate investigation.  
 
(8) Speakers shall remain at the podium while addressing the Board.  
 
(9) Speakers shall not be interrupted by audience comments, calls/whistles, laughter, or 
other gestures. Individuals in the audience who do not abide by this policy after a warning 
will be asked to leave the meeting.  
 



(10) Expressive activities including, but not limited to, petitioning, picketing, displaying 
signs and posters, solicitation, demonstrating, pamphlet distribution, and conducting polls 
shall not be permitted within the Governmental Center Building or in any other building that 
the Board is meeting.  
 
These rules do not preclude persons from delivering to the Board or its Clerk written 
materials including reports, statements, exhibits, letters, or signed petitions or to prohibit 
persons from presenting oral or written comments on any subject germane to the business 
of the Board to individual Board members or to the Board through its Clerk outside the 
context of the public meeting.  
 
K. Agenda Item Procedure 
The following guidelines shall be followed for comment addressed to specific agenda items:  
 
(1) In order to prevent obvious questions from consuming Board Meeting time, the 
Chairman and/or designated person(s) will advise the speaker if a matter is to be 
considered during some other time during the meeting. 
 
Article V  
Procedure for Dealing with Items Not on the Agenda 
A. All matters not on the agenda must be raised during citizens comment period. Any 
matter not on the agenda shall not be considered unless approved for consideration by the 
majority of the Board present in accordance with Article IV, C (2).  
 
B. For any special meeting, the business to be discussed shall be stated in the call for such 
meeting. The Chairman or Administrator shall prepare a written agenda listing all items to 
be considered for every special meeting. No other business shall be discussed or acted upon 
unless approved for consideration by the majority of the Board present in accordance with 
Article IV, C (2).  
 
Article VI 
Public Hearings 
A. All public hearings will be advertised in accordance with the Virginia Code. Public hearings 
may be postponed, continued or canceled at the discretion of the Board.  
 
B. In addition to those required by law, the Board at its discretion may hold public hearings 
when it decides that a hearing will be in the public interest.  
 
C. The case before the Board shall be summarized by the Chairman or designated 
person(s). If there is expected to be many speakers on the issue, interested parties wishing 
to speak must sign the register at the rear of the room prior to the start of the hearing. 
Each person wishing to speak will be called to the podium by the Chairman or designated 
person(s) in the order such person signed the register and must state his or her name and 
address for the record. Generally, each citizen should be provided an opportunity to speak.  
Each speaker shall be limited to three (3) minutes, unless waived by the Board.  
 
D. Board Members shall limit their comments in public hearings to insure participation by 
the public without Board interference. 



 
Article VII 
Appointment of Committees 
Appointments to committees of the Board may be made by the Chairman.  Appointments to 
other authorities, boards, and commissions, shall be made only by member motion adopted 
by a majority of the full Board. Prior to consideration of the nomination, the nominee shall 
be notified to determine his or her willingness to serve and to determine if he or she meets 
the qualifications for such appointment.  
 
Article VIII 
Duties of the County Administrator 
The County Administrator shall:  
 
A. Prepare the agenda for each meeting for approval in conformance with the agenda 
preparation procedure outlined in these bylaws.  
 
B. Keep a written record of all business transacted by the Board.  
 
C. Administer the financial control procedures of the County.  
 
D. Advise and inform the Board on all matters affecting County government.  
 
E. Execute all formal documents authorized by the Board of Supervisors.  
 
F. Provide and supervise all staff services directly under the control of the Board of 
Supervisors.  
 
G. The County Administrator shall be responsible for all personnel management of the 
County. Department Directors, Coordinators, Supervisors or Managers will be hired and 
dismissed with the consent of a majority of the Board of Supervisors.  
 
H. Prepare an annual operating budget for the County government in accordance with 
guidelines established by the State auditor’s office for approval by the Board of Supervisors. 
He shall be responsible for maintaining adequate financial and accounting records on all 
County business under his control.  
 
I. Serve as the Board’s representative in all circumstances where the Chairman, Vice 
Chairman, or a majority of the Board Members are not available.  
 
J. Perform all other duties delegated by the Board as required by law.  

Article IX 
Amendments 
A. The Bylaws may be amended by a recorded majority vote of the entire membership of 
the Board provided that written notice has been given to all members of the Board and a 
copy of the proposed amendment is sent with the notice, prior to said meeting.  



 
B. The Bylaws may be suspended in whole or in part only upon the unanimous vote of Board 
members present, relating to any matter before it. 



Gmai Lonzo Lester <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us> 

Project Pathfinder - Virginia Opioid Authority Cooperative Grant Application 
1 message 

Joey Carico <jcarico@svlas.org> 
To: Lonzo Lester <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us> 
Cc: Joey Carico <jcarico@svlas.org> 

Lonzo! 

Fri, Jan 19, 2024 at 4:24 PM 

Okay, attached is an official letter and an information sheet which should answer most questions about our proposal. I 
have already drafted the Application and will have an MOU and Board Resolution to you sometime next week for you to 
look over. 

Since you are a veteran also, I wanted you to know that I got the name for Project Pathfinder from the Pathfinders in the 
military. As you know, Pathfinders are tasked with locating safe landing zones for airborne/air assault troops. The way I 
see it, by doing our part, we can help folks in recovery find safe places to land also. They need help from every part of 
the community. I really do believe lawyers can help with some of the issues that plague them and help them stay on the 
right path. We've already helped many with licenses, family matters, expungements, bankruptcy and divorces. 

Let me know if you need anything else. As always, I appreciate you! 

Joey 

Joseph R . Carico. Esq. 

Executii · e Dfrector 
I 227 \Vest Cheny Street 

(I t·t 11,. • • Marion. VA 24354 
-0fflU il\\1es~ 11um~un (276) 783 -8300. ext 22 12 
Lega Aid c216) 378-8400· (fax) 

2 attachments 

~ Letter to Lonzo Lester - January 2024.pdf 
313K 

~ Project Pathfinder Information Sheet.pdf 
113K 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

 

 

 

 

 

January 19, 2024 

Lonzo Lester 

County Administrator 

137 Highland Drive, Suite A 

Lebanon, VA 24266 

 

RE: VIRGINIA OPIOID AUTHORITY COOPERATIVE PARTNERSHIP GRANT;  

PROJECT PATHFINDER 

 

Lonzo:   

 

 On behalf of Southwest Virginia Legal Aid, I write to request Russell County’s 

support of our application for a VOAA Cooperative Partnership grant.  As you know, legal 

aid has maintained an office in Russell County for more than 20 years.  Over those years, we 

have provided free legal representation and advice to many citizens of the county.  Currently, 

we have a partnership with the Russell County Drug Court and have assisted many 

participants who are on the path of recovery.  We have similar partnerships with many other 

drug and recovery courts throughout the region.  However, VOAA funding would enable our 

office to assign attorneys to primarily provide legal services to anyone in recovery.  We call 

this proposal Project Pathfinder.   

 

 Project Pathfinder builds on the successes we’ve had with our drug court partnerships 

by serving not only those participants, but also probationers and those referred by treatment 

providers.  Services provided by Project Pathfinder attorneys will help remediate or remedy 

the damage to peoples’ lives caused by the opioid/SUD epidemic.  In doing so, Project 

Pathfinder helps to abate further damage or hardships to those lives.  I have attached an 

informational sheet for your use and dissemination to your Board members.   

 

A staff member of the VOAA has advised that our application is strengthened if 

county partners commit to allocating some of their direct distribution monies to the project.  

Since our main office is in Smyth County, they have already agreed to allocate a portion of 

their direct distribution monies and have also agreed to serve as the fiscal agent for the grant.  

Our office is also allocating some matching funds.  I am also in the process of seeking other 

counties to join our cooperative partnership.  I will keep you updated as to that effort. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. Please let me know if I can provide further 

information.  

     Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

     Joseph R. Carico 

     Executive Director 

 

SOUTHWEST VIRGINIA LEGAL AID SOCIETY, INC. 
227 West Cherry Street ♦ Marion, VA 24354 

phone 276.783.8300 ♦ fax 276.378.8400 ♦ toll-free 1.800.277.6754 

jcarico@svlas.org ♦ www.svlas.org 

Offices in Castlewood, Christiansburg & Marion 

 

Seeking ONE Justice for ALL Virginians Since 1972 

  

 

 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



  

 

Project                                   

Pathfinder  
 

 
What is Project Pathfinder? 

 

 Project Pathfinder assists individuals on the path of recovery from substance use 

disorder, by providing free legal services.  

 
What does the Project do? 

 

The simple goals are to remediate the destructive effects of substance use disorder in 

peoples’ lives and abate or stop any further damage. 

 

 Southwest Virginia Legal Aid - Project Pathfinder attorneys provide the following legal 

services: 

 

+ drivers' license restoration 

+ criminal record expungement of eligible charges 

+ housing/tenancy representation 

+ divorce 

+ child custody and visitation 

+ official documents requests  

+ bankruptcy 

+ debt collection and consumer protection litigation 

+ protection of benefits 

 
Who benefits from the Project? 

 

 Project Pathfinder benefits individuals in recovery from substance use disorder with a 

focus on the following: 

 

+Drug court participants 

+Probationers 

+Treatment provider and health care referrals 

+Other state agency referrals 

 

 
hoW does the Project helP With the drug Problem?  

 

Those in recovery often face destabilizing challenges including unemployment, 

transportation limitations, inadequate housing, familial discord and debt.  By providing these 

legal services, our attorneys help to remove barriers to employment, driving privileges, housing, 

family harmony, and financial health thereby enabling these clients to remain on the path of 

recovery and successfully reenter society and the workforce.  



 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Andrew Hensley  Rebecca Dye 
District 1   District 6  
 
Lou Ann Wallace                  Steve Breeding, Chairman Nathan Kiser 
District 2               District 5 At-Large  
   
Tara Dye                 David Eaton, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 3              District 4 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

  

  

 

 

 
 

 
RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT FOR RECOVERY RESIDENCES AND PROVIDING SIGNATORY 
AUTHORITY FOR THE PROPOSAL FOR GRANT FUNDING FROM THE VIRGINIA OPIOID 

ABATEMENT AUTHORITY 
 
WHEREAS, the Russell County Board of Supervisors seeks to mitigate and abate the impacts of the opioid 
epidemic throughout Russell County; and  
 
WHEREAS, the mission of the Virginia Opioid Abatement Authority (OAA) is to abate and remediate the 
opioid epidemic in the Commonwealth through financial support in the form of grants, donations, or other 
assistance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the OAA operates a financial assistance program to support certain cooperative partnerships 
of cities and/or counties in Virginia that implement regional efforts to treat, prevent, and reduce opioid use 
disorder and the misuse of opioids; and   
 
WHEREAS, Russell County and Dickenson County have committed to work together to develop and 
jointly submit an application for regional cooperative partnership funding from the OAA for recovery 
residences operated by the nonprofit organizations Russell County Recovery, Inc. and Dickenson County 
Recovery, Inc., respectively; and   
 
WHEREAS, both counties are located within the same region of the Department of Behavioral Health and 
Developmental Services; and   
 
WHEREAS, Russell County agrees they will execute a legally binding operational agreement formalizing 
the cooperating partnership if the application for financial assistance is approved; and   
 
WHEREAS, Russell County has agreed to serve as the fiscal agent for the cooperative partnership if it is 
awarded; and   
 
WHEREAS, Russell and Dickenson Counties and Russell County Recovery, Inc. and Dickenson County 
Recovery, Inc. seek a total of ______________________ in grant funding from the OAA for Fiscal Year 
2025, with plans to apply for renewal funds for fiscal years 2026-2029; and    
 
WHEREAS, in support of this cooperative partnership, Russell County has agreed to allocate 
$_________________ of its Direct Distribution OAA funds for Fiscal Year 2025. 
 
 
 
 
 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Russell County Board of Supervisors hereby authorizes 
Lonzo Lester, Smyth County Administrator to execute the grant application to the Virginia Opioid 
Abatement Authority, to accept the grant award, and to execute all documents in connection therewith. 
ADOPTED this _________ day of February, 2024.  
 
RUSSELL COUNTY  
ATTEST:      BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 
 
             
Clerk of the Board     Chairperson 
 



Gmai 

CPRHA Environmental Review Exemption 
1 message 

Keith Viers <kviers@bvu.net> 
To: Lonzo Lester <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us> 
Cc: Michael Boyd <mboyd@bvu.net>, chubbard@bvu.net 

Lonzo, good afternoon and Happy New Year. 

Lonzo Lester <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us> 

Wed, Jan 3, 2024 at 1 :28 PM 

The Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) requires the Responsible Entity (RE) with oversight of 
permitting to provide its review of our 5year/Annual Plan to ensure no work activities identified require an Environmental 
Review. The Cumberland Plateau Regional Housing Authority (CPRHA) submits a 5year/Annual Plan for ongoing capital 
improvements to its properties. 

I have attached the plan for your review in addition to the Environmental Review for Activity form for your signature. 

Please execute the Environmental Review and return to my attention. Should you have any questions or need for 
additional documentation please let me know and thanks. 

Keith L. Viers 

Executive Director 

Cumberland Plateau Regional Housing Authority 

(276) 889-4910 ext. 124 

2 attachments 

~ Environmental Exclusion Russell County 2024.pdf 
152K 

~ Syear Plan 2024.pdf 
493K 

Steve Breeding
Highlight









Steve Breeding
Highlight























 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Andrew Hensley  Rebecca Dye 
District 1   District 6  
 
Lou Ann Wallace                  Steve Breeding, Chairman Nathan Kiser 
District 2               District 5 At-Large  
   
Tara Dye                 David Eaton, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 3              District 4 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

  

  

 

 

 
 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

Public Hearing 
 

The Russell County Board of Supervisors’ will hold a Public Hearing on Saturday, 
March 2, 2024, at 9:00 A.M. to hear comments concerning the consideration of the 
“Landfill Host Agreement Resolution.”  The Public Hearing will be held in the Russell 
County Government Conference Center, 137 Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia 24266.  

The public is invited to attend and speak concerning the “Landfill Host Agreement 
Resolution.” 

 

 
BY ORDER OF THE 
RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

 

 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

December 21, 2023 

Mr. Lonzo Lester 

County Administrator 

Russell County  

137 Highland Drive, Suite A 

Lebanon, Virginia 24266-7169 

 

RE: Community Development Block Grant #21-21-14 

   Dante Regional Sewer Line Extension Project 

Contract Amendment #1—Supplemental Funding 

 

Dear Mr. Lester: 

 

The Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD) is amending the above referenced 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Contract to award an additional $1,000,000.00 in funds from 

the 2023 CDBG One-Time Supplemental Infrastructure Funds Program. The total CDBG award for this project 

is now $3,500,000.00. DHCD is also the extending the contract termination date from August 14, 2024, to August 

14, 2025. It is our expectation that this project will be fully completed by the new extension date.   

 

 If Russell County needs additional assistance, our team is ready to provide support. Please contact me 

to let us know how we can help you.     

 

Your signature below confirms your understanding that all terms, conditions, and assurances 

included in the original contract apply to this amendment. Please acknowledge your agreement with this 

amendment by signing this letter. Please return a scanned copy to Megan McKinnon, Program Support 

Specialist, by email at megan.mckinnon@dhcd.virginia.gov. The County will also need to upload a copy 

into “Reports and Documents” in the Centralized Application and Management System (CAMS) as a 

contract document. This will then become part of the Russell County Dante Sewer Project’s CDBG Contract 

documents. The effective date of this amendment is December 12, 2023. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Sandra Powell 

Sr. Deputy Director 

 

             

Lonzo Lester, Russell County Administrator   Date 

 

c: Debbie Milton, Cumberland Plateau PDC    Dr. Melissa Mason, DHCD 

Matt Boyd, Cumberland Plateau PDC    Stuart Burrill, DHCD 

 Kathi Boatright, DHCD      Tonya Thomas, DHCD  

 Tracy Puckett, Russell County PSA    Amanda Healy, DHCD 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

  

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1 

 
  

 

January 4, 2024 

 

Mr. Lonzo Lester 

County Administrator 

Russell County  

137 Highland Drive, Suite A 

Lebanon, Virginia 24266-7169 

 

    RE: Community Development Block Grant #21-21-14 

     Russell County Dante Sewer Project 

Interim Compliance Review Letter of Findings 

 

Dear Mr. Lester: 

 

On November 1 and 2, 2023, Stuart Burrill, Program Administrator with the 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD), conducted a desk 

review and site visit as part of an Interim Compliance Review (ICR) of the above-

referenced Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). The ICR consisted of a detailed 

inspection of all files and materials related to Russell County’s management of this project 

to date. In addition to examining the relevant files, Mr. Burrill talked with Russell County 

Public Service Authority (PSA) staff and the grant management consultant. The objective 

of this review was to determine whether the County administered the project in compliance 

with federal and state laws and policies. Enclosed is a summary of what DHCD staff 

observed during this review. A written response to any issues identified in the attached 

Summary of Findings, Concerns and Unresolved Issues must be submitted no later 

than February 12, 2024.  

 

PROJECT STATUS AND ACTIVITIES 

 The CDBG Agreement is intended to improve the living conditions of residents 

living in the Dante and Sun communities of Russell County through the provision of new 

and improved public sewer infrastructure. Russell County was awarded a $2,500,000 

CDBG contract on August 15, 2022. As of the date of this letter, DHCD has issued one 

contract amendment to award an additional $1,000,000 in Supplemental CDBG funds for 

this project (copy enclosed) and to extend the contract period for twelve months. The grant 

is scheduled to expire on August 14, 2025. Additionally, the County committed $300,000 

in non-CDBG funds toward the project. 

 

  



Mr. Lonzo Lester 

Page 2 

January 12, 2024 

  

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1 

 
  

 

At the time of the compliance review, the status of the required activities, per this contract, 

are as follows: 

 

1. Administration of this project in a timely and compliant manner (CDBG).— In 

progress. As of the ICR, the project has been delayed due to pandemic-related 

increases in construction costs and supply-chain issues. It is DHCD’s 

understanding the County anticipates advertising for bids in spring 2024 and 

starting construction in summer 2024. Construction is estimated to be complete in 

spring 2025 (Concern #1). 

 

2. Design and construction of approximately 1,500 LF of gravity sewer line; 

approximately 30,850 LF of force main sewer line; one (1) pump station; and 

associated manholes, valves, and appurtenances (CDBG and non-CDBG).—In 

progress. See note in activity #1.  

 

BENEFIT STATUS 

The CDBG Agreement requires that 240 total households (617 total persons) of 

which 141 households (364 total persons) are low- and moderate-income (LMI) 

households will benefit through the provision of new and/or improved public sewer 

improvements. As of the date of the compliance review, no households have benefitted 

through provision of public sewer improvements because construction has been delayed. 

DHCD anticipates all benefit will be met by the end of the project. Beneficiary 

documentation has been maintained to support compliance with the national objective or 

activity eligibility. 

 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

The CDBG Agreement requires Russell County to establish and maintain sufficient 

internal controls over CDBG funds. Ms. Vickie Porter of Russell County serves as the 

project’s Finance Manager. The financial documentation is well organized. The County 

draws down on an advanced funds basis. As of the date of the ICR, the County had made 

two (2) payment requests, totaling $8,000 of the $2,500,000 (0.3%) in CDBG funds 

allocated for this project. A total of $300,000 in leverage funds is committed to this 

project, none of which was verified at the compliance review. The chart below outlines the 

expenditures that were reviewed and verified. 

 

Documented Project Expenditures as of November 1-2, 2023 

 

Activity CDBG Non-CDBG Total 

Administration $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00 

Sewer Improvements $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Total Expended $8,000.00 $0.00 $8,000.00 

Total Available $2,492,000.00 $300,000.00 $2,792,000.00 

Total Budget $2,500,000.00 $300,000.00 $2,800,000.00 



Mr. Lonzo Lester 

Page 3 

January 12, 2024 

  

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1 

 
  

 

While it currently appears that the County has spent CDBG funds disproportionally 

to non-CDBG funds, it is anticipated that the County will be able to document all required 

leverage amounts, as outlined in the CDBG Agreement, by the project’s conclusion. We 

also note this project has no program income and Russell County is up to date on its audits. 

 

DHCD staff reviewed invoices, checks and other support documentation for 

remittance requests #1-2. The expenditure of all CDBG funds appeared to be adequately 

supported with costs incurred reasonable and eligible. As of the ICR, the financial files did 

not include documentation verifying the County appropriated CDBG funds for FY23 or 

FY24 (Unresolved Issue #1). 
 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

The project has generally been implemented in accordance with the CDBG 

program guidelines. Mr. Matthew Boyd with the Cumberland Plateau Planning District 

Commission acts as the grant manager for the project. Regular project management team 

meetings are not held, and monthly status reports sent to DHCD.  

 

A review of the grant project files found that they appeared to include all necessary 

project documentation providing reasonable assurance that Russell County managed its 

CDBG funds in accordance with HUD and DHCD requirements. Procurement and 

construction files were not reviewed because no CDBG funds have been expended for 

procurement or construction activities as of the ICR. 

 

COMPLIANCE STATUS 

 The following table lists the regulatory topics reviewed and indicates the status of 

your compliance in each area. The attached Summary of Findings, Concerns and 

Unresolved Issues identifies the corrective action that Russell County will need to take to 

ensure full compliance with the program regulations. We also note that over the two years 

this project has been active, Russell County has completed two fair housing activities: Fair 

Housing posters in the County’s administrative offices (2022) and grant management 

personnel attending a Fair Housing training hosted by DHCD (2023). 

 

 

Area Reviewed Finding Concern 
Unresolved 

Issue 
Compliance 

Project Management  X   

Files and Contracts    X 

Citizens Participation/Complaints    X 

Equal Opportunity/Fair Housing    X 

Benefits    X 

Financial   X  



Mr. Lonzo Lester 

Page 4 

January 12, 2024 

  

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1 

 
  

 

CONCLUSION 

 Russell County generally administered its CDBG funds in accordance with DHCD 

requirements. It ensured that funds expended were necessary or reasonable and met the 

contracted National Objective, maintained adequate documentation, and implemented 

adequate internal controls. We commend Russell County for its efforts to assist project 

area residents with their public sewer infrastructure needs. DHCD acknowledges the 

pandemic-related challenges affecting the construction progress for this project. Further, 

it’s DHCD’s understanding the County anticipates advertising for bids in spring 2024 and 

starting construction in summer 2024. 

 

We appreciate the cooperation and assistance that Mr. Matthew Boyd and Ms. 

Debbie Milton provided DHCD staff during the review. Please extend our thanks to them. 

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact your Program 

Administrator, Mr. Stuart Burrill, by e-mail at stuart.burrill@dhcd.virginia.gov or by 

phone at (276) 525-5010. 

 

      Sincerely, 

       
Amanda Healy 

Associate Director 

 

Attachments  

 

c: Matthew Boyd, Cumberland Plateau PDC 

 Debbie Milton, Cumberland Plateau PDC 

 Vickie Porter, Russell County 

 Tracey Puckett, Russell County PSA 

 Rhonda Lester, Russell County PSA 

 Kathi Boatright, DHCD 

 Stuart Burrill, DHCD 

 

 

 

 



 

  

Attachment 1 

 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCERNS AND UNRESOLVED ISSUES 
A written response to any issues identified below must be submitted by February 12, 2024 

 

Concern #1 

Project Management: At the time of the ICR, the project has been delayed due to 

pandemic-related impacts on construction costs and supply-chain issues. It is DHCD’s 

understanding Russell County anticipates advertising for bids in spring 2024, starting 

construction in summer 2024, and completing construction in early 2025.   

 

Corrective Action Required: Russell County must submit an updated timeline detailing 

how project milestones will be achieved before the contract expiration date of August 14, 

2025. The timeline must be emailed to Mr. Stuart Burrill by February 12, 2024. 

 

 

Unresolved Issue #1 

Financial Management: As noted in Chapter 5 of the 2017 Grant Management Manual, 

DHCD requires grantees maintain records that identify the source and obligation of funds 

for all grant supported activities. These records include, but are not limited to, 

documentation verifying the appropriation of CDBG funds to a grantee’s fiscal year (FY) 

budget. As of the ICR, Russell County’s financial files did not include documentation 

verifying the County appropriated CDBG funds for FY23 or FY24.  

 

Corrective Action Required:  Russell County must submit documentation showing CDBG 

grant funds have been appropriated for FY23 and FY24. This documentation must be 

emailed to Mr. Stuart Burrill by February 12, 2024. 

 



Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight







Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight





Russell County Board of Supervisors                                                               276-889-8000
T r a v e l   R e q u e s t   A p p r o v a l    F o r m
Date Submitted 1/30/2024

Employee Name(s) Bridgett McGlothlin

Department Russell County Building Dept.

Phone 276-889-8012

Email (optional) bridgett.mcglothlin@russellcountyva.us

Purpose/Location of Travel Mandatory Code Change Training-- Christiansburg

Dates of Travel March 5, 6, 7 2024

Anticipated Expenses

Type of Expense Description of Expense Daily Expenses 
(Except Airfare)

# of 
Days Total Expenses Amt Approved

Airfare

Ground Transportation

Conf/Registration Fees

Lodging

Meals and Tips $59.00 3 $177.00

Mileage approx. 350- 375 round trip 

Other

Grand Total $177.00

Employee Signature Date Signed

Co Admin Signature Date Approved

about:blank
Steve Breeding
Highlight



2021 Code Change Training 
Requirements for Code Officials 

1 of 3 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 CERTIFICATION ADMINISTRATIVE MODULES REQUIRED 

Al
l 

 
Required for all 
certificate holders 

☐ 2021 CCT – Administrative and Related – includes: 
IBSR (Industrialized Buildings), ADI (Amusement Device), 
ISPSC (Pools and Spas), Elevator, SFPC (Statewide Fire Protection), 
and VPMC (Property Maintenance) 

☐ 2021 CCT – Administrative Refresher 

 
CERTIFICATION TECHNICAL MODULES REQUIRED 

BASED ON CERTIFICATION(S) HELD 

O
ffi

ci
al

 R
ol

es
 

 

 
Building Official 

☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 
☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 
☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 
☐ 2021 CCT – All Trades (Electrical, Plumbing, Mechanical/Fuel Gas) 

 
Fire Official 

 
NONE (in addition to the two mandatory Administrative courses) 

Property Maintenance 
Official 

 
NONE (in addition to the two mandatory Administrative courses) 

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l I

ns
pe

ct
or

 

Residential Building 
Inspector 

 
☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 

Residential Electrical 
Inspector 

 
☐ 2021 CCT – Electrical Module* OR VRC Module 

Residential Mechanical 
Inspector 

☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Mechanical and Fuel Gas Code Module* OR VRC 
Module 

Residential Plumbing 
Inspector 

 
☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Plumbing Code Module* OR VRC Module 

Residential Energy 
Inspector 

 
☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 



2021 Code Change Training 
Requirements for Code Officials 

1 of 3 

 

 

 

 
 CERTIFICATION ADMINISTRATIVE MODULES REQUIRED 

Al
l  

Required for all 
certificate holders 

☐ 2021 CCT – Administrative and Related – includes: 
IBSR (Industrialized Buildings), ADI (Amusement Device), 
ISPSC (Pools and Spas), Elevator, SFPC (Statewide Fire Protection), 
and VPMC (Property Maintenance) 

☐ 2021 CCT – Administrative Refresher 

 
CERTIFICATION TECHNICAL MODULES REQUIRED 

BASED ON CERTIFICATION(S) HELD 

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 In
sp

ec
to

r 

Commercial Building 
Inspector 

☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 
☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 

Commercial Electrical 
Inspector ☐ 2021 CCT – Electrical Module* 

Commercial Mechanical 
Inspector ☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Mechanical and Fuel Gas Code Module* 

Commercial Plumbing 
Inspector 

☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 
☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Plumbing Code Module* 

Fire Protection Inspector ☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 

Commercial Energy 
Inspector ☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 

Co
m

bi
na

tio
n Combination Residential 

Inspector 

 
☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 

Combination Commercial 
Inspector 

☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 
☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 
☐ 2021 CCT – All Trades (Electrical, Plumbing, Mechanical/Fuel Gas) 

In
sp

ec
to

r ‐
 O

th
er

 Permit Technician ☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 
☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC‐C, VEBC) 

Fire Prevention Inspector NONE (in addition to the two mandatory Administrative courses) 

Property Maintenance 
Inspector NONE (in addition to the two mandatory Administrative courses) 

Elevator Inspector NONE (in addition to the two mandatory Administrative courses) 

Amusement Device 
Inspector NONE (in addition to the two mandatory Administrative courses) 



2021 Code Change Training 
Requirements for Code Officials 

1 of 3 

 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION ADMINISTRATIVE MODULES REQUIRED 

Al
l 

 
Required for all 
certificate holders 

☐ 2021 CCT – Administrative and Related – includes: 
IBSR (Industrialized Buildings), ADI (Amusement Device), 
ISPSC (Pools and Spas), Elevator, SFPC (Statewide Fire Protection), 
and VPMC (Property Maintenance) 

☐ 2021 CCT – Administrative Refresher 

 
CERTIFICATION TECHNICAL MODULES REQUIRED 

BASED ON CERTIFICATION(S) HELD 

Pl
an

s E
xa

m
in

er
 

Residential Building Plans 
Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 

Residential Energy Plans 
Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code Module 

Commercial Building Plans 
Examiner 

☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 
☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 

Commercial Energy Plans 
Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 

Combination Building Plans 
Examiner 

☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Residential Code 
☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 
☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 

 
Electrical Plans Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Electrical Module* 

 
Mechanical Plans Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Mechanical and Fuel Gas Code Module* 

 
Plumbing Plans Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Virginia Plumbing Code Module* 

☐ 2021 CCT – ICC A117.1 Accessibility Standard 

Fire Protection Plans 
Examiner ☐ 2021 CCT – Commercial Bundle (VBC, VECC, VEBC) 

 
*Note: 
• All trainings delivered in instructor‐led format (in‐person or virtual) require participants to 

attend the entire day of training. 
• Self‐paced modules are bundled consistent with the live classroom offerings except for self‐ 

paced trade modules that may be completed individually based on certification issuance. 



Steve Breeding
Highlight












































































	Authorization - Minutes BOS.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Authorization - Expenditures.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 2/3/24         9:00 AM
	REPORTS
	1. VACo Preliminary Legislative Program 2024………………………………………D-1
	2. 2024 Southwest VA Legislative Reception (1/31/24) & VACo Local                                                        Government Day & Reception (2/1/24)………………………….………….....…….D-2
	3. RC BOS Resolution Opposing Utility Rate Increases…………………………….D-3
	4. RC Planning Commission Organizational Review………………………………...D-4
	5. Laurel Bed Lake Feasibility Study……………………………………………………D-5
	6. Heart of Appalachia 2025 Outcome Report…………………………………………D-6
	7. Russell County Road Reporting System……………………………………………D-7
	8. Russell County By-Laws Update……………………………………………………..D-8
	9. VDOT Monthly Road System Report………..……………………………………….D-9
	REQUESTS
	10. Virginia Opioid Authority Cooperative Partnership Grant – Project                               Pathfinder……………………………………………………………..……………….....D-10
	11. Russell & Dickenson County – Joint Resolution of Support for Recovery                                  Residences and Providing Signatory Authority for the Proposal for Grant                                     Funding from the Virginia Opioid Aba...
	12. CPRHA Environmental Exemption & 5 Yr. Plan Review…………………………D-12
	13. Host Agreement Resolution Public Hearing Notice..……..………………………D-13
	14. DHCD Community Development Block Grant #21-21-14 – Dante Sewer                               Project……………………………………………………………………………………..D-14
	15. RC Planning Commission Plats………………………………………………………D-15
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	HOA Year End Report Final.pdf
	Slide 1: Heart of Appalachia 2023 Outcomes
	Slide 2: Our mission
	Slide 3: Our Marketing Strategy
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: Looking Ahead…
	Slide 12: Thank You

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 2/3/24         9:00 AM
	REPORTS
	1. VACo Preliminary Legislative Program 2024………………………………………D-1
	2. 2024 Southwest VA Legislative Reception (1/31/24) & VACo Local                                                         Government Day & Reception (2/1/24)………………………….………….....…….D-2
	3. RC BOS Resolution Opposing Utility Rate Increases…………………………….D-3
	4. RC Planning Commission Organizational Review………………………………...D-4
	5. Laurel Bed Lake Feasibility Study……………………………………………………D-5
	6. Heart of Appalachia 2025 Outcome Report…………………………………………D-6
	7. Russell County Road Reporting System……………………………………………D-7
	8. Russell County By-Laws Update……………………………………………………..D-8
	9. VDOT Monthly Road System Report………..……………………………………….D-9
	REQUESTS
	10. Virginia Opioid Authority Cooperative Partnership Grant – Project                               Pathfinder……………………………………………………………..……………….....D-10
	11. Russell & Dickenson County – Joint Resolution of Support for Recovery                                          Residences and Providing Signatory Authority for the Proposal for Grant                                              Funding from the Vi...
	12. CPRHA Environmental Exemption & 5 Yr. Plan Review………………………….D-12
	13. Host Agreement Resolution Public Hearing Notice..……..………………………D-13
	14. DHCD Community Development Block Grant #21-21-14 – Dante Sewer                               Project……………………………………………………………………………………..D-14
	15. Virginia Federation of Humane Societies Direct Animal Award 2024………….D-15
	16. RC Planning Commission Plats………………………………………………………D-16
	17. Travel Request – Bridgett McGlothlin – Administrative Building Code                           Training……………………………………………………………………………………D-17

	Travel Request Form Christiansburg.pdf
	Travel Advance Request




